Central Bedfordshire
Council
Priory House
Monks Walk
Chicksands,
Shefford SG17 5TQ
please ask for

This meeting
may be filmed.*

Paula Everitt

direct line

0300 300 4196

date

08 March 2018

NOTICE OF MEETING
SOCIAL CARE, HEALTH & HOUSING OVERVIEW &
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Date & Time

Monday, 19 March 2018 10.00 a.m.
Venue at

Council Chamber, Priory House, Monks Walk, Shefford
Richard Carr
Chief Executive
To:
The Chairman and Members of the SOCIAL CARE, HEALTH & HOUSING OVERVIEW &
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:
Cllrs P Hollick (Chairman), P Downing (Vice-Chairman), Mrs A Barker, P A Duckett,
K Ferguson, Mrs S A Goodchild, Mrs D B Gurney, G Perham and A M Turner

[Named Substitutes:
R D Berry, J Chatterley, Ms A M W Graham and M A G Versallion]
All other Members of the Council - on request
MEMBERS OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC ARE WELCOME TO ATTEND THIS
MEETING

*This meeting may be filmed by the Council for live and/or subsequent broadcast
online and can be viewed at
https://centralbedfordshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home.
At the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting will
be filmed by the Council. The footage will be on the Council’s website for six
months. A copy of it will also be retained in accordance with the Council’s data
retention policy. The images and sound recording may be used for training
purposes within the Council.
By entering the Chamber you are deemed to have consented to being filmed by the
Council, including during any representation you might make, and to the possible
use of the images and sound recordings made by the Council for webcasting
and/or training purposes.
Phones and other equipment may also be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog
from this meeting by an individual Council member or a member of the public. No
part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves
to go into exempt session. The use of images or recordings arising from this is not
under the Council’s control.

AGENDA

1.

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence and notification of substitute members

2.

Minutes
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the Social Care
Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 22 January
2018 and to note actions taken since that meeting.

3.

Members' Interests
To receive from Members any declarations of interest and of any political whip
in relation to any agenda item.

4.

Chairman's Announcements and Communications
To receive any announcements from the Chairman and any matters of
communication.

5.

Petitions
To receive petitions from members of the public in accordance with the Public
Participation Procedure as set out in Part 4G of the Constitution.

6.

Questions, Statements or Deputations
To receive any questions, statements or deputations from members of the
public in accordance with the Public Participation Procedure as set out in Part
4G of the Constitution.

7.

Call-In
To consider any decision of the Executive referred to this Committee for review
in accordance with Part 4D of the Constitution.

8.

Requested Items
To consider any items referred to the Committee at the request of a Member in
accordance with Part 4D of the Constitution.

9.

Executive Member Update
To receive a brief verbal update from:
 Executive Member for Adult Social Care and Housing Operations (HRA).
 Executive Member for Health.
The Committee also requested an updated from the new Executive Member
for Assets and Housing Development on his vision for the future of housing
development.
Part A: External & NHS matters

To review and scrutinise any matters relating to the planning, provision and operation
of health services in Central Bedfordshire commissioned by the NHS or external
organisations (such as the Clinical Commissioning Group).
Reports
Item
10

Subject
East of England Ambulance Services Trust Performance
To receive a verbal update on the performance of the East of England
Ambulance Services Trust.

11

Sustainable and Transformation Partnership (STP)
To receive an update on: The Sustainable and Transformation Partnership and
 The proposed merger of Bedford and the Luton and Dunstable
Hospitals
Part B: Public Health, Social Care &
Housing matters

To review and scrutinise any matters that fall within the remit of the Council’s Social
Care, Health and Housing or Public Health Directorates.
Reports
Item
12

Subject
The Future of Westlands Older Persons Home - The outcome of the
consultation and procurement processes
To consider and comment on the outcome of the consultation into the future
of Westlands Older Persons Home in Leighton Buzzard and make
recommendations to a future meeting of the Executive.

13

Integration of Health and Social Care Enquiry Report Phase II

To receive and comment on the Enquiry Report into the Integration of Health
and Social Care in Central Bedfordshire and support the recommendations to
Executive.
14

Work Programme and Executive Forward Plan 2017/18
The report provides Memebrs with details of the currently drafted Committee
work programme and the latest Executive Forward Plan.

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 2
Page 1
CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCIL
At a meeting of the SOCIAL CARE, HEALTH & HOUSING OVERVIEW &
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE held in Council Chamber, Priory House, Monks Walk,
Shefford on Monday, 22 January 2018.
PRESENT
Cllr P Hollick (Chairman)
Cllr P Downing (Vice-Chairman)
Cllrs P A Duckett
K Ferguson

Cllrs

Apologies for Absence:

Cllrs Mrs A Barker
Mrs D B Gurney
Ms C Maudlin
Cllr B J Spurr

Substitutes:

Cllrs C C Gomm

Members in Attendance:

Cllrs Cllr S Dixon
Mrs C Hegley
Mrs T Stock

Mrs S A Goodchild
G Perham
A M Turner

Executive Member for Families,
Education and Children and Lead
Members for Children's Services
Executive Member for Adults, Social
Care and Housing Operations (HRA)
Deputy Executive Member for Health

Officers in Attendance:

Mrs P Everitt
Mrs J Ogley

Scrutiny Policy Adviser
Director of Social Care, Health and
Housing

Others in Attendance

Dr R Jayalath
Dr A Low

General Practitioner, BCCG
Chair, Bedfordshire Clinical
Commissioning Group
General Practitioner, BCCG
Director of Finance, BCCG
Interim Chairman Central
Bedfordshire Healthwatch
Turnround Director, BCCG
Accountable Officer, BCCG

Dr C Marshall
Mr M Miller
Mr D Simpson
Mr A Street
Ms S Thompson
SCHH/17/54. Minutes

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting of the Social Care Health and
Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 27 November 2017 be
confirmed and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

SCHHPage 2

Item 2

22.01.18
Page 2

SCHH/17/55. Members' Interests
Cllr Duckett declared an interest at item 13 – Primary Care in Central
Bedfordshire, in his role as a part time domiciliary care worker.
SCHH/17/56. Chairman's Announcements and Communications
The Chairman advised the Committee of recent news and events that included:
 The recent Central Government changes that saw Social Care
responsibilities moved to the Department of Health.
 A Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny would take place on 24 January 2018
in Milton Keynes.
SCHH/17/57. Petitions
None.
SCHH/17/58. Questions, Statements or Deputations
None.
SCHH/17/59. Call-In
None.
SCHH/17/60. Requested Items
None
SCHH/17/61. Executive Members Update
The Executive Member for Adults, Social Care and Housing Operations (HRA)
advised the Committee of the revised portfolio responsibilities. Cllr Steve
Dixon had responsibility for all matters relating to Children’s Services and Cllr
Eugene Ghent had responsibility for Assets and Housing Delivery.
The Executive Member raised concerns about the growing trend that saw
developers not delivering the requirement of affordable housing and rentable
properties because schemes became unviable. In response to concerns from
the Committee, the Executive Member for Assets and Housing Delivery was
invited to attend the March meeting to advise Members how the Council
planned to ensure affordable housing was delivered in Central Bedfordshire.
In response to a question on the proposed cap on HRA borrowing potential, the
Executive Member advised Government guidance was not yet available,
however, the Council had reduced the amount it repaid on HRA capital to
release £9m of funds so schemes like Houghton Regis Central and Crescent
Court could begin.

SCHHPage 3

Item 2

22.01.18
Page 3

SCHH/17/62. Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group Financial Position update
The Accountable Officer for Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group
(BCCG) gave a verbal update on its financial position that had seen the BCCG
return to special measures by NHS England. Although some progress had
been made by the BCCG, it had not achieved its control total and NHS England
continued to provide support and expertise to enable the BCCG to attain and
sustain a surplus position of £11.4m in 2018/19.
In response to a question regarding the allocations of funds to the BCCG, the
Chairman of BCCG, advised its allowance was a national calculation and
budgets had continued to be stretched by acute hospital costs and unplanned
admissions. This position was exacerbated by planned QIPP savings that had
not been realised. The growth in population and the time lag in funds being
received to cover this growth continued to cause a pressure on finances.
The BCCG was fully supported by GPs and represented some of the lowest
referring areas in the Country. Commitment towards the new models of
working with Social Care and partners was fundamental in delivering a viable
financial position in the future.
RECOMMENDED the Committee: 1. While understanding the national picture, the challenges and progress
made locally, there is concern at the changing financial goals,
recognition of the need in Central Bedfordshire and underfunding
leading to a return to special measures.
2. Looks to see the current financial goal being achieved and plans laid
for the £11.4m surplus in 2018/19.
3. Recognise the desire of the BCCG to create care between GPs and
hospitals and this appears to be in line with CBC’s own strategic plan
to create integrated care provision and hubs.
SCHH/17/63. Mental Health Crisis Care Service Update
Dr Roshan Jayalath, Clinical Lead for Mental Health Services at BCCG advised
crisis care mental health services, managed through ELFT, were being
delivered at Primary Care service level. Following two public engagement
sessions, the provision of services at GPs’ surgeries was supported by service
users. The addition of four secondary care Mental Health link workers enabled
residents access to local, and if required, specialist care appointments.
Residents were also able to receive professional support through the 111
telephone service that aimed to provide 24/7 support in 2018. Feedback had
been positive on the new model of service and the introduction of wellbeing
cafes and early help sessions had been welcomed and had made an
immediate impact.
Carolyn Kurzeja advised the street triage pilot scheme that saw care provided
by police, social and mental health professionals to residents in crisis, had
come to an end. The success of the scheme would be evaluated to ensure the
service had provided the right care in the right place and that funding for the
service could be met.

SCHHPage 4

Item 2

22.01.18
Page 4

Members acknowledged that early access of the street triage service had
relieved pressure on secondary care, however, funding was the issue going
forward. The Committee requested details of the evaluated street triage
scheme when completed.
A Member referred to Police and Crime Commissioner’s Victim hub and
proposed some joined up working to help residents in crisis.
RECOMMENDED the Committee
1. Welcomes improvements to crisis care Mental Health provision giving
patients direct access to care at both primary and second stages.
2. Seeks feedback on the results of evaluation and how the BCCG will
achieve the national target for access to services.
3. Emphasises the importance of patients’ voices and in listening to
family and friends.
SCHH/17/64. Non-Emergency Patient Transport Update
Alan Streets – Turnaround Director, BCCG, gave an update on the emergency
measures put in place by the BCCG that had resulted in the continued
provision of non-emergency patient transport to residents, delivered by the
East of England Ambulance Service Trust (EEAST). A new contract had
subsequently been signed in December 2017 by the EEAST to continue to run
the service.
In general, Members were able to report an improvement in this service
through the feedback from residents. It was noted, however, there had been a
consequential cost pressure as a result of the emergency situation in 2017/18
that would be carried forward in 2018/19.
RECOMMENDED the Committee: 1. Congratulated the East of England Ambulance Services providing the
non-emergency patient transport following the demise of the then
contract.
2. Feedback on the newly contracted service be provided in June 2018.
SCHH/17/65. Primary Care in Central Bedfordshire update
Dr Chris Marshall, GP in Leighton Buzzard, advised of the new model of
working by the remaining three practices in the area. Transformation funding
had been awarded to enable a primary care home concept to be introduced.
The Practices had favoured the Multi Disciplinary Team (MDT) approach to
care for patients and regular development sessions continue to be held
together with mental health, social care and community services and GPs’
services. The pilot would allow the surgery to work in a collaborative way and
skilled services would be shared throughout the area. The eye specialist was
an example of a shared service and would avoid the need for patient visits to
hospital.
A Member workshop was planned on Friday, 16 February 2018 to discuss
primary care workforce issues and how the BCCG would address specific
concerns and pressure points in Central Bedfordshire.

SCHHPage 5

Item 2

22.01.18
Page 5

In response, Members welcomed the Leighton Buzzard initiative to create a
virtual hub for residents. It also supported the provision of care services for
frail and elderly residents in care homes. Dr Low also advised that skilled
teams outsourced by the Luton and Dunstable Hospital provided care for long
term conditions like diabetes in care home settings.
The Acting Chairman, Healthwatch, raised his concern that residents are not
being told about the changes and it was imperative to educate them in this
regard.
The Chairman of BCCG advised checks on the health and wellbeing needs of
the population in Central Bedfordshire included those with learning disabilities
and the frail and elderly and formed part of the preventative approach being
implemented in the Primary Care setting. This approach and the sharing of
specialist skills would seek to ensure scarce resources are used in the most
appropriate way.
RECOMMENDED the Committee: 1. Welcomes the collaborative approach adopted in Leighton Linslade
involving skill mix among GPs and Social Care colleagues to meet the
changing needs of the local population and the provision of an
integrated health and social care service.
2. Expect a clear and positive line of communication with patients,
including those with learning difficulties, to understand their views as
to how services ae being delivered.
3. Notes the pressures of increasing housing and the consequent
population, the pressures on GPs and their desire to develop areas of
interest, and that this brings further pressures on General Practice.
4. Will welcome the feedback from planned workshops and the work
programme.
5. Notes plans for a collaborative approach in other areas across Central
Bedfordshire.
SCHH/17/66. Stop Smoking Service Remodel
The Assistant Director Public Health and the Principal Stop Smoking Manager
delivered a presentation that outlined the current Stop Smoking Service
provided primarily as a successful face to face basis for the Central
Bedfordshire, Bedford Borough and Milton Keynes council areas. In order to
take advantage of virtual opportunities and provide budget efficiencies, the
Assistant Director welcomed the Committee’s views.
As part of the review, models of good practices would be considered as well as
group sessions provided on tablet or phone devices. The views of service
users would also be requested, and it was proposed a new style service would
be provided in 2019.
The Committee supported the use of e-cigarettes as an alternative to smoking
as well as group sessions and advice in schools on the damage smoking does
to health.

SCHHPage 6

Item 2

22.01.18
Page 6

RECOMMENDED the Committee: 1. Welcomes the work of the Stop Smoking service and its contribution
to the improved health of individuals.
2. Emphasises the need to highlight the role of vaping and its health
contribution to Stop Smoking.
3. Commends a group approach to helping quitters as well as working
with schools to deter youngsters from starting to smoke.
4. Looks forward to a reduction in the cost of service as its success is
demonstrated.
SCHH/17/67. Customer Relations Adult Social Care Annual Report 2016/17
The Assistant Director Resources introduced the Customer Relation Adult
Social Care Annual Report that outlined the complaints and compliments
received by the Directorate. Services continued to perform well and Members
were reassured that complaints were investigated and, where appropriate, staff
training sessions held both internally and externally to learn from services
failure.
The Assistant Director advised that consistency of services was important, and
it was vital for officers to manage expectations and engagement with residents,
so they are in no doubt about the service they will receive from us.
RECOMMENDED
1. The Committee welcomes the way in which the service performs and
the key improvements to the services as well as the low financial
redress incurred following investigation.
2. Expects an eye to be kept on service performance but especially on
complaints regarding quality of care, poor customer care and
communication.
3. If there is a training issue that this be implemented.
SCHH/17/68. Work Programme 2017/18 and Executive Forward Plan
RECOMMENDED that the work programme be agreed subject to the
following amendments: 1. Introduction to the new Community Health Service provider, ELFT –
deferred to June 2018
2. CCG delegated commissioning role – deferred to June 2018
3. Update on the Non Emergency Ambulance Service provided by the East of
England Ambulance Service Trust – June 2018.
(Note:

The meeting commenced at 10.00 a.m. and concluded at 1.20 p.m.)

Chairman…………………………………..
Dated…………………………………..

CARE
TEAMWORK
QUALITY
RESPECT
HONESTY
Item 10
Page 1

EEAST Profile

Item 10
Page 2

• Covering 7,500 square miles
• Serving 5.8 million people
• With 4,000 staff and 1,500
volunteers
• Managed 1.1 million 999
calls last year
• Completed 500,000 nonemergency patient
transport journeys last year

Trust headlines

Item 10
Page 3

• Successfully implemented the Ambulance Response Programme
in November 2017
• An Independent Service Review was commissioned by NHS
England to understand the resource gap – awaiting final published
version in April 2018 but we understand recommendations include
a significant increase in funded resource
• Continued high demand on the service, especially with the growth
of higher acuity patients in last 2 years
• Significant pressures from delays in handing-over patients at
Emergency Departments
• Development of the Emergency Clinical Advice and Triage centre
so more patients with minor conditions can be treated over the
phone (around 10% of calls that would have received an
ambulance previously)
• Focus on developing support mechanisms for staff to help their
health and wellbeing and reduce late finishes
• Focus on recruitment and retention of patient-facing staff

Ambulance Response Programme (ARP)
• Nationally mandated by NHS England for implementation before winter
2017
• New call categories and reporting standards
• 18 month trial phase covering 14 million calls prior to EEAST
implementation
• Most aspects of UK ambulance services have changed beyond
recognition since the previous change
• Many calls now focus on the frail elderly rather than traditional ‘accident
and emergency’
• Half of all calls are now resolved by paramedics without the need to
take patients to hospital
• For specialist care the focus of the ambulance service is increasingly on
getting patients to the right hospital rather than simply the nearest
• Successfully implemented in EEAST in October 2017
• Compared nationally, EEAST performance sits in the ‘middle of the
pack’
Item 10
Page 4

Ambulance Response Programme

Item 10
Page 5

Performance Post-ARP
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Difficult to make meaningful comparisons with pre-ARP
Reports by local authority area not yet available post-ARP
EEAST ‘middle of the pack’ nationally
Bedfordshire consistently best performing regionally
Strong C1 90th performance in central Beds compared with EEAST
C1 and C2 in central Beds compares favourably with other rural areas in EEAST
C1 mean in mid and NE Beds being supported by increased response cars
ARP
Nov 2017-Jan 2018

EEAST

North East
Beds
Constituency

South West
Beds
Constituency

Bedfordshire
County

C1 Incidents

235

236

314

2170

19650

C1 Mean

9:21

9:18

7:23

7:16

8:49

C1 90th

15:06

14:27

13:32

12:20

15:58

C2 Incidents

1551

1600

1876

11985

117780

C2 Mean

29:00

32:24

28:48

26:57

28:46

C2 90th

56:39

1:02:20

1:02:44

57:21

58:59

Item 10
Page 6

Mid Beds
Constituency

Constituency Map

Item 10
Page 7

Performance Pre-ARP
•
•
•
•
•

Difficult to make meaningful comparisons with post-ARP
Retrospective reports pre-ARP not available by local authority area
Bedfordshire is consistently the best-performing regionally
Red 1 consistently above national standard
Red 2 performance reduced pre-ARP – context of high call volume and
increasing call cycle times due to pathway, referrals and specialist centres

Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17 Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17

R1

Aug-17 Sep-17

Trust %

68.83% 70.05% 72.34% 73.64% 72.62% 70.11% 70.35% 69.51% 68.65%

Bedfordshire %

80.50% 83.33% 82.19% 81.06% 79.10% 79.31% 78.70% 76.61% 78.26%

Bedfordshire Volume

R2

Jul-17

241

216

247

227

244

261

230

218

207

Trust %

60.25% 61.79% 65.67% 64.60% 62.29% 59.60% 56.97% 57.42% 56.83%

Bedfordshire %

76.99% 73.55% 77.86% 74.52% 72.24% 65.78% 64.78% 66.70% 63.14%

Bedfordshire Volume 3172

2892

3003

2955

3260

3095

3285

3195

3231

Item 10
Page 8

Hospital Turnaround
•
•
•

NHS England have recently recognised ambulance handover delays within the
EEAST area as a significant issue impacting on response capability
In December there 5000 hours lost in excess handover time
Bedford hospital is consistently one of the quickest turnaround times regionally
ALL ACUTES

Patient Journey Count
Average A2H Time
A2H over 30 mins hours lost
Average H2C Time
H2C over 30 mins hours lost

Bedford Hospital South Wing
Patient Journey Count
Average A2H Time
A2H over 30 mins hours lost
Average H2C Time
H2C over 30 mins hours lost

Jan-17
44890
0:28:19

Feb-17
40109
0:25:35

Mar-17
43878
0:22:02

Apr-17
41222
0:20:51

May-17
42731
0:20:09

Jun-17
41328
0:20:29

Jul-17
42040
0:21:11

Aug-17
41624
0:21:00

Sep-17
41459
0:21:57

Oct-17
42854
0:20:26

Nov-17
42183
0:22:38

Dec-17
44606
0:28:02

4946:05:31

3249:12:51

2392:54:40

1907:22:40

1443:36:55

1589:27:34

2015:25:01

1796:05:14

2033:02:59

2002:54:05

2673:22:33

5094:38:52

0:17:06
0:17:05
0:16:28
0:16:32
0:16:46
0:16:38
0:16:58
0:17:06
0:17:26
0:16:19
0:15:43
0:15:08
360:27:00 218:04:28 214:47:25 198:38:20 220:57:10 218:00:02 234:51:42 278:52:38 291:19:46 231:35:25 124:20:25 141:28:00

Jan-17
1790
0:16:23

Feb-17
1542
0:16:43

Mar-17
1655
0:14:50

Apr-17
1555
0:13:53

May-17
1703
0:14:23

Jun-17
1574
0:13:06

Jul-17
1655
0:14:33

Aug-17
1588
0:13:12

Sep-17
1636
0:15:17

Oct-17
1719
0:13:27

Nov-17
1632
0:17:14

Dec-17
1767
0:18:27

41:30:55

38:43:47

20:35:42

5:26:50

16:51:15

5:43:47

16:24:38

5:02:44

24:59:02

20:49:30

64:30:41

69:53:15

0:13:38

0:13:58

0:14:03

0:13:47

0:16:08

0:16:13

0:16:41

0:15:54

0:17:22

0:14:48

0:14:35

0:14:20

5:33:42

7:23:25

5:37:01

4:07:31

8:54:50

12:11:37

11:01:15

12:34:47

19:53:45

14:51:57

5:13:43

8:20:51

Item 10
Page 9

A2H= Arrival to handover
H2C=Handover to Clear

Non-Emergency Patient Transport Service
EEAST has recently been awarded the Non-Emergency Patient Transport contract
which commenced 1st January 2018. This followed a period of emergency cover
provided by EEAST at short notice from 30th September 2017, following the
cessation of the previous arrangements with an independent provider without
notice. The contract is for 2 years with the option to extend for a further year.
A mobilisation plan has been put in place to recruit additional staff as there are
significant vacancies as well as a full management team and replacements vehicles
and equipment. The Trust is currently consulting with 140 staff to make the
required changes to rotas to meet the commissioned service
specification. Changes will take effect from 1st April 2018.

Item 10
Page 10

The new contract is to deliver a service operating 24 hours a day, 365 days a year.
The service will be managed by a General Manager for Bedfordshire and
Hertfordshire, with a Locality Business Manager and Ambulance Liaison Officer
both based at Bedford and responsible for that contract. There will also be a
Quality Manager and Training Manager.

Staffing and innovations
Staffing, Achievements & Innovations
Best response performance to the sickest patients
• We currently only have ten vacancies in Bedfordshire (3.8%)
• Lowest sickness absence in the Trust consistently
• We are currently providing more operational cover than ever before
• Bedfordshire is the first area in EEAST to move onto electronic Patient Care
Records
• Bedfordshire is recognised as the EEAST lead in developing ever improving
Medicines Management processes
• We have developed a process for exporting local best practice around the Trust
e.g. safe management of clinical waste
• We are recognised as having an effective mentorship programme to support our
numerous developing staff
• We have a close working relationship with the University of Bedfordshire and
provide placements for all their Student Paramedics within the county
• Bedfordshire is currently trialling an Early Intervention Vehicle as an improved
response to vulnerable fallers and low acuity patients in the local community
• We are working closely with Bedford Hospital to minimise ambulance turnaround
times and have a manager based there to support flow
Item 10
Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 11
Page 1

Social Care, Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Date of Meeting

19 March 2018

Update on the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership
(STP) and Central Bedfordshire’s Integration and
Transformation Plans.
Report of:
Cllr Brian Spurr, Executive Member and Lead Member for Health
(brian.spurr@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
and
Cllr Carole Hegley: Social Care & Housing - Executive Member for and Lead
Member for Children's Services, (carole.hegley@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
Responsible Director: Julie Ogley, Director of Social Care, Health and
Housing (julie.ogley@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
Purpose of this report.
1.

To provide an update on the progress of the Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership (STP) across Bedfordshire, Luton and
Milton Keynes (BLMK) and the emerging collaborative approach.

2.

To inform the Scrutiny Committee of the publication of the NHS
Planning Guidance announcing the shift from Accountable Care
Systems to ‘Integrated Care Systems’ and the requirement to produce
a ‘System Plan’

3.

To update the Scrutiny Committee on the Integration and
Transformation projects incorporating the Better Care Fund Plan and
progress on improving outcomes for frail older people.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Committee is asked to:
1. Note the progress of the Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership.
2. Note the publication of the NHS Planning Guidance 'Refreshing
NHS Plans’ 2018/19 and the use of the new term ‘Integrated Care
System’ replacing Accountable Care Systems.

Item 11
Page 2
3. Note and consider progress on the five priorities of the STP and
Transformation projects set out in the Better Care Fund Plan
4. Note and consider local initiatives supporting frail older people as
part of the Integration and Transformation projects of the Better
Care Fund Plan.
Background
1.

The BLMK STP is one of eight first wave Accountable Care Systems in the
Country. This enables the 16 STP partners to work closely to design a more
integrated system. In addition, it enables BLMK to access transformational
funding to enable change at a faster pace and deliver benefits to local people.

2.

The recently published NHS England planning guidance 'Refreshing NHS
Plans’ 2018/19 makes clear that STPs are expected to take an increasingly
prominent role in planning and managing system-wide efforts to improve
services. STPs should:
 ensure a system-wide approach to operating plans that aligns key
assumptions between providers and commissioners which are credible
in the round;
 work with local clinical leaders to implement service improvements that
require a system-wide effort; for example, implementing primary care
networks or increasing system-wide resilience ahead of next winter;
 identify system-wide efficiency opportunities such as reducing
avoidable demand and unwarranted variation, or sharing clinical
support and back office functions;
 undertake a strategic, system-wide review of estates, developing a plan
that supports investment in integrated care models, maximises the
sharing of assets, and the disposal of unused or underutilised estate;
 take further steps to enhance the capability of the system including
stronger governance and aligned decision-making, and greater
engagement with communities and other partners, including where
appropriate, local authorities.

3.

The Planning Guidance also announced that the term ‘Integrated Care
System’ will now be used to describe both devolved health and care systems
and those areas previously designated as ‘shadow Accountable Care
Systems’ (ACS). An integrated Care System (ICS) is where health and care
organisations voluntarily come together to provide integrated services for a
defined population.

4.

Integrated Care Systems are seen as key to sustainable improvements in
health and care by:
 creating more robust cross-organisational arrangements to tackle the
systemic challenges facing the NHS;
 supporting population health management approaches that facilitate
the integration of services focused on populations that are at risk of
developing acute illness and hospitalisation;
 delivering more care through re-designed community-based and home-

Item 11
Page 3



based services, including in partnership with social care, the voluntary
and community sector; and
allowing systems to take collective responsibility for financial and
operational performance and health outcomes.

5.

Integrated Care Systems are required to prepare a Single System Operating
Plan narrative that covers CCGs and NHS providers, rather than individual
organisation plan narratives. The Single System Operating Plan should align
key assumptions on income, expenditure, activity and workforce between
commissioners and providers. System leaders should take an active role in
this process, ensuring that organisational plans underpin and together
express the system’s priorities.

6.

Future updates to the Scrutiny Committee will use the term ‘Integrated Care
System’.

7.

The BLMK Partnership Plan, published in November 2016, sets out five
priority areas:
•
Priority 1 Prevention
•
Priority 2 Primary, Community and Social Care
•
Priority 3 Sustainable Secondary Care
•
Priority 4 Digital Programme
•
Priority 5 Systems Integration.
Progress in Key Priority Areas

8.

Priority 1 Prevention


Seasonal flu
A whole-system approach to seasonal flu vaccinations led by the
Health Protection Committee has resulted in year-on-year increases (to
date) in 18 out of 20 eligible resident cohorts, equivalent to an
additional 16,000 vaccinations across the Bedfordshire CCG area.
Seasonal flu vaccination has been offered to Care Providers across
Central Bedfordshire including Care Homes and Domiciliary Care staff.
Targets for frontline staff have been met, for example 76% of frontline
staff at the L&D are vaccinated to date. GP consultation rates for flulike illness and the number of confirmed flu outbreaks are among the
lowest in the East of England.



Social Prescribing
Sustainability and Transformation Funding awarded in Q3 2017/18 is
enabling the development of social prescribing interventions across
BLMK which will release capacity in primary care and support residents
to find sustainable solutions to practical, social and emotional issues.
Social Prescribing is a key area of focus in Central Bedfordshire’s
Integration and BCF Plan, and a local delivery model is being
developed based on the expansion of the Village Care Scheme.
Funding has been sought to continue the programme in 2018/19.

Item 11
Page 4


Detection of abnormal heart rhythm and high blood pressure in
community pharmacies
Around 40% of high blood pressure (hypertension) and 30% of
abnormal heart rhythm (atrial fibrillation, AF) is undiagnosed, leading to
preventable heart attacks and strokes.
Sustainability and Transformation Funding awarded in Q3 2017/18 is
enabling 25 community pharmacies across BLMK, including 7 in
Central Bedfordshire, to screen around 2,800 residents for
hypertension and AF, identifying an estimated 500 people with
hypertension and 20 with AF. Subsequent treatment will prevent an
estimated 4 heart attacks and 7 strokes. Promotion of community
pharmacy as a source of healthcare advice and support is part of a
wider drive to ensure that prevention and care are delivered in the most
appropriate settings.
In collaboration with the Local Pharmaceutical Committee, pharmacies
in three Central Bedfordshire wards with higher levels of deprivation
and cardiovascular disease were identified for the programme:
Houghton Hall, Parkside and Tithe Farm. The initial phase will run from
mid-February to April 2018 and funding has been sought to extend the
intervention in 2018/19.



9.

2018/19 plans
Work on existing priorities will continue in 2018/19, along with a new
focus on promoting self-care across BLMK and the development of a
workplace wellbeing offer. Additional areas of focus under
consideration for the Priority 1 work programme are preventing and
managing obesity; tackling alcohol misuse and rising alcohol-related
admissions; and improving mental wellbeing and resilience in children
and young people.

Priority 2 Primary, Community and Social Care
Primary Care


An STP wide Primary Care Programme has been agreed and funded
by the STP and NHS England. This includes an Incentive Scheme for
practices to demonstrate moving towards the new models of care and
the National Association of Primary Care (NAPC) programme to
implement Primary Care Home across the STP.
The Primary Care Home model is centred on the delivery of health and
care services by integrated multi-disciplinary teams. Developed around
populations of 30,000 to 50,000, with networked GP services being at
the centre of the patient’s care, it involves building care management
teams around GPs to provide effective management of patient lists.
There is increased focus on preventing ill health and improving good
health, through greater integration of range of services, including the
voluntary sector.

Item 11
Page 5






All clusters/localities will receive NAPC support over a 12-18mth period
but a small group will receive intensive support to test the benefits over
a shorter period and Leighton Buzzard has been proposed as one
cluster for intensive support, with the potential for one of the Ivel Valley
sub-clusters as well.
Bedfordshire CCG is coordinating the recruitment of pharmacists
(September wave now approved) and international recruitment of GPs
(January).
Currently two pharmacists have been working to review medication in
care homes in Central Bedfordshire. BCCG is also coordinating an STP
wide bid for care home pharmacists to be submitted in (March).

Mental Health
 Delivering enhanced core 24/7 mental health support for patients with
physical health needs being managed within hospital settings.
 Commitment from East London Foundation Trust (ELFT) and Central
and North West London Foundation Trust (CNWL) to align some
resource to support transformation work.
 Targeted work with ELFT and Kings Fund to take place March /April
focussing on mental health in primary care
Workforce
 A Primary Care Workforce Development Plan submitted to NHS
England at the end October 2017 received positive assurance though
the target number of new GPs needed requires review.
10.

Priority 3 Sustainable Secondary Care


A proposal to merge Bedford Hospital and Luton & Dunstable Hospital
to form a single organisation and management team has been
developed. A full business case has been developed and was
submitted to NHS Improvement (NHSI) on 22 December following
approval by both Trust Boards.



Plans for the proposed merger are ongoing with full engagement of
clinicians, other staff and stakeholders. STP leads have undertaken a
range of engagement activity, attended by over 500 people in total.
Staff joined a briefing session led by the respective Chief Executive
Officers at each Trust to hear about progress and have their questions
answered.



Two clinical events brought together consultants and leaders from both
Trusts to consider the many benefits for their teams, patient pathways
and how they might work together differently in the future. Patients,
public and other stakeholders attended three events held in Luton,
Bedford and Central Bedfordshire.



As part of the merger, both hospital sites will retain their individual

Item 11
Page 6
names and identity; however, the integrated NHS Foundation Trust will
have a new name. Both Trust Boards have discussed this and, given
that this integrated Trust will enhance services for the whole
Bedfordshire population, are considering Bedfordshire Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust as the new Trust name.
11.

Priority 4 Digitisation


Development of a Shared Health & Care Record with public facing
architecture / patient portal is progressing. An Outline Business Case is
currently being produced for completion by the end of March 2018. A
programme is being established to take this forward into the next
financial year with the key activity being identification of funding.



An Information Sharing programme using Estate and Technology
Transformation Fund (ETTF) has been established. Its main objective
is to make BLMK SystmOne patient data (95% of all BLMK GP data)
available in every care setting required.



Funding has been provided for the three BLMK CCGs to implement
Online Consultations in GP practices. GP Practices in West Mid Beds
are part of the pilot cluster.



Some ETTF funding has been allocated to pilot Telehealth remote
monitoring in BLMK. An options appraisal was carried out to identify the
best opportunities and an outline business case has been produced
and agreed. A task and finish group, of the Enhanced Care in Care
Homes Group, has been established and will take forward the planning
and deployment of the remote monitoring solution to Care Homes in
Central Bedfordshire.



Care Homes Digitisation - A programme is underway to provide
BLMK Care homes with a digital capability to the following standards:
o Bronze standard – Secure Wi-Fi, NHS Mail addresses and IG
training for the home
o Silver standard – all of the above plus patient data access to
SystmOne
o Gold standard – all of the above plus access to a full Shared
Health & Care record via the portal so that all permitted, relevant
Health & Social Care data can be viewed.



Phase 1 is implementing twelve Care Homes to the Bronze standard,
three of which are in Central Bedfordshire. Funding for this has come
from a successful Local Government Association (LGA) bid.
Phase 2 is to take the rest of the ‘in scope’ care homes in BLMK to the
Bronze standard using late arriving funds from ETTF.



Item 11
Page 7
12.

Priority 5 System Reengineering
In September 2017, STP partners led by P5 began a work programme to
determine what functions are best located at each of the three different levels
of BLMK’s triple-tier model. BLMK has segmented its ACS design and
development work into three key components. These are:
 Strategic Commissioning
 Systems Integration
 Accountable Care Partnerships (ACPs)
The Strategic Commissioning component represents a major departure from
current commissioning arrangements for both NHS and Councilcommissioned services. Amongst other things, it will:


Involve short, medium and long-term needs analysis, and associated
near and long-term outcomes based commissioning.



Rely on a new contractual relationship with service providers, who will
be asked to accept responsibility for achieving outcomes set by a
Strategic Commissioner whilst remaining within a capitated budget.



Require new ways of:
o defining responsibilities, both between service providers and
with BLMK residents, particularly in respect of self-managed
care.
o developing services, especially those that cut across traditional
boundaries.
o transacting, and sharing risk and reward, underpinned by
new ways of contracting.

A Functional Review of Commissioning, which attracted over 100 participants
over three workshops across BLMK was undertaken between September and
December 2017. The Review concluded that Strategic Commissioning (for
health and wellbeing outcomes) should be organised, delivered and held
primarily accountable at “Place” in BLMK’s ACS model. This will support
delivery of integrated health and wellbeing commissioning and will build on
existing Health and Wellbeing Board strategies and accountability
arrangements. There may be opportunities to “pool” some strategic
commissioning on a “multi-place” basis. This will be a decision for the four
place-based strategic commissioners to make.
There was strong support for the development of the whole population health
analytic and management capability as a priority for BLMK’s ICS (ACS). There
was also consensus that this should be provided “at scale” whilst being
established and operated in a way that is responsive to the needs of each of
the four “places” in BLMK.
To enable the next stage of ICS (ACS) development to proceed at pace, STP

Item 11
Page 8
CEOs agreed to take steps to establish ICS - level capacity and capability to
support the development and early operationalisation of BLMK’s ICS and to
drive the transformation programme forwards at pace. Several approaches
could be adopted including:


Closer joint working between the three CCGs in BLMK which could
provide a strong platform for piloting and developing Strategic
Commissioning and Systems Integration across BLMK. The three
BLMK CCGs are considering options to achieve closer working.



Building the BLMK’s ACS transformation capability by establishing
interim roles that are working solely on the development of the BLMK
ACS. These roles would not be aligned to any STP partners. Roles
might include increasing the core STP PMO resources and creating
interim ACS-focussed roles, such as an ACS Finance Lead;



Maximising the contribution of the development work being undertaken
via place-based initiatives such as the Luton concordat and the
development of ACPs in each of the four “places”.

The February edition of BLMK STP Newsletter is attached for further
information on the STP Plan. Appendix Two
Integration and Better Care Fund Plan
13.

There is a close strategic fit between the aims of the Integration and Better
Care Fund Plan (BCF), and the aims of the STP which are both centred on
shifting the balance of care to focus on out of hospital services, promoting
independence and wellbeing and reducing reliance on institutional forms of
care. Appendix One shows the cross section of Integration and
Transformation Projects for Central Bedfordshire.
BCF Update and Quarter 3 Submission

14.

The Q3 performance return for the BCF was submitted to NHS England on 19
January. It reported that Central Bedfordshire was on track to meet the targets
for two of the national metrics- admissions to residential care and reablement
and not on target to meet the target for non-elective admissions and delayed
transfers of care.
Non elective admissions remain challenging particularly in the context of
winter pressures and higher incidence of Flu. We are working with A&E
Delivery Boards to understand as a whole system how we can develop further
the admission avoidance strategy and are implementing new approaches. In
addition, the introduction of GP Led Care Plans in Qtr4 should provide a
remedial action to reduce admissions.
Delayed Transfer of Care (DTOCs): December and January proved to be
very challenging due to winter pressures. Additional investment in discharge

Item 11
Page 9
teams at the Hospital and a patient tracker will provide whole system
oversight and ensure resources are appropriately targeted to deliver the
required reduction in DTOC. A patient tracker has been developed which is
helping to expedite discharges and provide whole system oversight of patient
flow. IBCF investment in non-weight bearing beds and hospital discharge
coordinators are helping to reduce DTOCs.
Enhanced Care in Care Homes
15.

The targeted work with the care homes in Central Bedfordshire to support
complex care management of frail older people and to reduce pressure on the
acute system is ongoing. Key areas of focus are as follows:









The Red Bag Scheme, which will enable timely and safe transfer of
patients between care homes and hospital, is being implemented and
there is good engagement with Care Providers.
There are plans to introduce other initiatives, such as, Hydration training
and remote baseline monitoring into the Care Homes.
The Trusted Assessor role will begin in February 2018, with a Trusted
Assessor for Bedford Hospital covering both Bedford and Central
Bedfordshire residents. Another Trusted Assessor has been appointed for
the Luton & Dunstable Hospital to start from March 2018 to cover Central
Bedfordshire residents.
There are plans to engage with Hertfordshire Care Association to provide
Trusted Assessor support to Central Bedfordshire residents at the Lister
Hospital.
Three Central Bedfordshire care homes (Tudor House, Swiss Cottage and
Park House) are participating in digitisation pilot and have received
information governance training. Work has begun to deliver the IT
capabilities for NHSmail, which will allow secure sharing of emails between
hospitals, clinicians and the Care Homes. This is part of the wider STP
digitisation programme, described in earlier sections.
Activity data for hospital admissions from Care Homes has been produced
and will be disaggregated for each local authority area to provide local
intelligence and ensure targeted support to care homes.

Improving Outcomes for Frail Older People
16.

Improving Outcomes for Frail Older People is one of the existing priorities of
the Health and Wellbeing Board and the vision for care and support for frail
older people is one that is person centred, safe, cost and clinically effective.
The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy set out the following two key
outcomes for this priority:
 Enabling older people to stay well at home for longer
 Helping people with dementia and their carers to feel supported to
manage their dementia.

17.

Both the Better Care Fund Plan and the STP Projects are focused on
supporting frail older people through proactive care for people with long term
conditions and complex care management support ensuring people are

Item 11
Page 10
supported in their usual place of residence and remain independent in their
communities.
18.

Through the Improved Better Care Fund, there has been additional
investment:
 Increasing voluntary sector and community capacity. A Voluntary and
Community sector Grant Scheme has been launched to deliver the
following outcomes:
o People are able to live independently at home
o People are able to participate in their local community
o People are not socially isolated or lonely
o People feel safe, secure, valued and respected
 Additional resources to support timely discharge from hospital are now
in place, with the Hospital Discharge Service now operating across all
acute trusts used by Central Bedfordshire residents.


In homecare – so that the new Homecare contract now includes
incentive payments to support timely discharge from hospital.

19.

The Good Neighbour and Village Care Scheme coordinated by the
Bedfordshire Rural Communities Charity continues to provide comprehensive
volunteering support across Central Bedfordshire. The schemes are focused
on supporting older people, who may be socially isolated and many of the
volunteers are older people.

20.

During 2016/17, the good neighbour scheme supported around 867 people
and completed over 13,900 tasks. Over the same period, they harnessed the
support of about 962 volunteers.

21.

Helping people with health related travel is the most requested support task
accounting for 37% of all tasks. Other travel support accounted for a further
23% of all tasks. Befriending related tasks accounted for almost a quarter of
all requested support tasks. The good neighbour scheme is now operating in
39 locations across Central Bedfordshire.

22.

In late 2016, a number of voluntary sector support services were
commissioned to provide support to carers, people with dementia, autism,
sensory impairment, stroke and learning disabilities. Across this range of
services there are over 280 volunteers engaged in providing support to over
1,500 people.

23.

These services were commissioned to deliver one or more of the outcomes
listed above. Furthermore, for those that relate to a long term health
conditions, an additional outcome to help people understand, manage and live
well with their condition was required.

24.

Early feedback suggests that 80% of people feel these services help them
feel less isolated and lonely; two thirds feel able to participate in their
community and feel safe, secure, respected and valued. For those services
supporting people with long term conditions, three quarters felt it helped them

Item 11
Page 11
understand and live well with their condition.
25.

In 2016/17, there were 780 Dementia Champions and the number of
Dementia Friends increased to over 8000.

26.

A good measure for determining effectiveness of the services and experience
of service users is through the Adult Social Care Survey. This anonymised,
perception survey seeks to learn about how effectively services are helping
people to live safely and independently in their usual place of residence and
the impact that services are having on their quality of life. The results of the
summary measures mentioned above as a result of the 2016/17 survey based
on 441responses for Central Bedfordshire are:







27.

Information and advice, some 76.0% said that they found it easy to find
information about services (nationally 73.5%).
Adult Social Care users reporting that they have as much social contact
as they would like had decreased to 43.6% compared to 44.9% when
last measured, but 4.2% (nationally 5.7%) reported that they felt
socially isolated.
26.4% said they did not leave home, (27.1% nationally), and an
additional 20.5% said they were not able to get to all of the places they
wanted to.
Depression and anxiety, 47.2% (45.8% nationally), said they were not
anxious or depressed, 46.4% (45.8% nationally) were moderately
anxious/depressed and 6.4% (8.4% nationally) were extremely
anxious/depressed.
86.3% of people receiving services said they helped them to feel safe,
in line with the national average of 86.4%.

The Better Care Fund Plan and the wider Transformation projects are
ensuring a continuing focus on improving outcomes for frail older people,
wherever their usual place of residence.
Next Steps

28.

Work will continue to progress the priority areas of the STP to benefit the
population of Central Bedfordshire.

29.

STP Leads will continue to develop a Single System Operating Plan narrative
and support the emerging Integrated Care Systems.

30.

Bedfordshire CCG and Central Bedfordshire Council leads will progress work
on establishing a programme to design and develop a ‘Place based’ strategic
outcome based commissioning framework.

31.

The Transformation Board will continue to monitor progress on the key
projects for the BCF and STP as well as ensuring that a single delivery
framework for the key Integration and Transformation strategies is in place.

Implications for Work Programme

Item 11
Page 12
32.

Further update reports on the STP priorities, emerging Integrated Care
System and the Single System Operating Plan narrative will be presented to
the Scrutiny Committee at future meetings.

Council Priorities
33.

Health and Wellbeing Boards have a key role in shaping the future of health and
social care in their areas and need to ensure that they have meaningful input to
the STPs. The emerging vision and priorities of the STP are consistent with the
priorities of Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Central Bedfordshire for
improving health, wellbeing and reducing health inequalities and also aligns with
the Council’s priority on Protecting the vulnerable; improving wellbeing.

34.

Health and care systems have been asked to come together to create their own
ambitious local blueprint for implementing the Five Year Forward View, covering
Oct 2016 to March 2021. NHS England will assess each STP. Plans of the
highest standard will gain access to transformation funding from April 2017.

35.

NHS England planning guidance 'Refreshing NHS Plans’ 2018/19 makes clear
that STPs are expected to take an increasingly prominent role in planning and
managing system-wide efforts to improve services.

36.

The STP has implications for Central Bedfordshire’s vision for integration and
Out of Hospital services.

Corporate Implications
Governance & Delivery
37.

The BLMK STP programme has been overseen and driven by an STP Steering
Group. This includes 16 key STP partners, all of whom act as equal partners in
the STP programme. Representation on the STP Steering Group is at the CEOs
and/or Director level. The Chief Executive of Central Bedfordshire Council is
deputy to the nominated STP lead.
The overarching design principle used to formulate the STP work programme
has been that, as far as practical, the STP working groups draw on resources
provided and/or insourced from STP partners. This helps to ensure that:
 Ownership is achieved
 Barriers in accessing data, intelligence, people and advice are reduced
 Local expertise is harnessed
 Third party costs are minimised

Financial
38.

One of the triple aims of the STPs is to secure financial balance across the local
health system and improve the efficiency of NHS services. However, the
financial position of Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group remains of
concern in the wider ACS position.

Item 11
Page 13
39.

As an ACS in 2018/19 the system will need to be managed with a single system
based budget, balancing pressures between partners.

40.

In 2017/18 the continued rapid growth in emergency admissions, and A&E
attendances, compared to last year, reflects sub-optimal experience for our
residents and is creating financial pressure within the system.

Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
41.

The PSED requires public bodies to consider all individuals when carrying out
their day to day work – in shaping policy, in delivering services and in relation to
their own employees. It requires public bodies to have due regard to the need to
eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, advance equality of
opportunity, and foster good relations between and in respect of nine protected
characteristics; age disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual
orientation.

42.

Are there any risks issues relating Public Sector Equality Duty

43.

If yes – outline the risks and how these would be mitigated

Source Documents

Yes/No

Location (including url where possible)

Appendices
The following Appendix is attached:
Appendix 1 - Central Beds Place Based Transformation Programme
Appendix 2 - February 2018 Monthly BLMK briefing.
Report author: Patricia Coker, Head of Service
Email: patricia.coker@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Central Bedfordshire Place Based Transformation Programme

Appendix 1

BCF

Prevention
and early
intervention

Delivering
integrated
and improved
outcomes
through Out
of Hospital
Services

Expansion of
telehealth/tel
ecare services

Embed
Multidisciplin
ary approach

Implementati
on of Social
Prescribing

OOMPH
physical
activity
programme
Falls
Prevention
training for
Extra Care
Homes

Discharge
Planning,
Single Trusted
Assessor
approach,
Single Point of
Co-ordination
approach
Integration
rehabilitation
& reablement

Develop
integrated
care pathways

High Impact
Change Model

Strengthening
and
Transforming
the General
Practice
Model

Expanding the
range of OOH
Services

Trusted
Assessor
model

Early
discharge
planning

Extended
access to
primary care

Enhanced
services
delivered by
clusters

Red bag
scheme

Systems to
monitor
patient flow

Integrated
Health and
Care Hubs

Enhanced
Care in Care
Homes

Commission
scoping and
Strategic
Outline Case
documents
Commission
Outline
Business
Cases (OBCs)
Procurement
and
construction
of Hubs.
Development
of interim
“Hub”
virtual/estates
solutions
Review plans
with CBC Local
Development
Plan

Medication
reviews to
reduce
inappropriate
polypharmacy

Complex care
support

Care home
staff training

Care home
digitisation,
Airdale model
scoped

Multidisciplinary/m
ulti agency
discharge
teams
Home
First/Discharg
e to Assess

Home visiting
model

MDT
development

Same day
access

Bringing
planned care
OOH

GP Resilience

Community
diagnostics

Seven Day
service
Trusted
Assessor
Enhancing
health in care
homes
Focus on
Choice

High Impact
Actions

CHS
mobilisation

Delegated
Commissionin
g

Single Point of
Access

Strengthening
multidisciplina
ry working to
support frail
and complex
patients

Rapid
Intervention
Team

A&E
Streaming

Enhanced care
home model

Discharge to
assess,
discharge
planning
111/out of
hours
integration
with OOH
services

Complex care

CISP

Enablers

Transitions of
Care

Complexity of
Care

Primary Care
Home

Paediatric
non-elective

Record
sharing/share
d health and
social care
record

Standardised
Discharge
Process

Digitalisation
Strategy

core support
"offer" to
practices

Bronchiolitis
Action Plan

IM&T inc.
remote
monitoring
and risk
stratification

5Q Care Test

Medication
Reviews

Implementati
on Plan

Care Planning

Engagement
with localities
and clusters
on benefits of
the model

Workforce
development

Training
Needs
Assessment

Support to
apply for
NAPC
Programme

Leadership
and OD

In and out of
Hours
assessment

Hub scoping
and
development

BLMK
Discharge
Framework

Work streams:
Primary Care Transformation
Supporting frail and complex patients
Developing IM&T

Production of
process
controls and
impact
measures

Item 11
Page 15

Implementati
on of a falls
pathway

Primary Care
Home

OOH Strategy (indicative schemes)

Embedding multidisciplinary working
Developing workforce and new roles
Hub development

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 11
Page 17

Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes
Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Central Brief: February 2018
Issue date: February 2018

News
Transforming care closer to home
Our ambition is to build high quality, resilient, integrated primary, community and social care
services across BLMK and in recent months significant steps have been made in turning this
into reality.
This transformation will see primary care strengthened and more care delivered closer to
home. This will include, in time, the creation of a single point of access for urgent care and
the transformation of services for people with learning disabilities. Integrated physical and
mental health services will also be remodelled.
In recent months BLMK STP has been working with the National Association of Primary
Care (NAPC) to explore its Primary Care Home (PCH) model and its potential fit for the
region.
Primary Care Home (PCH) is an innovative approach to strengthening and redesigning
primary care (including community services, mental health, social care and the community
and voluntary sector) around the needs of patients. Developed by the NAPC, the model
brings together a range of health and social care professionals to work together to provide
enhanced personalised and preventative care for their local community in populations of
approximately 30 – 50,000. In the model, staff come together as multi-disciplinary teams –
drawn from GP surgeries, community, mental health and acute trusts, social care and the
voluntary sector – to focus on local population needs and provide care closer to patients’
homes.
There is strong national evidence that this form of integrated, multi-disciplinary proactive
care delivery approach can result in improvements in patient experience, better outcomes,
improved ability to recruit and retain primary care staff and reductions in demand for hospital
services and rapid access to more appropriate health and care services.
Late last year, the decision was made to move forward with the PCH model and funding to
deliver this model now been agreed. In the coming months the BLMK team will be working in
partnership with NAPC, and local community, mental health and social care partners to roll
out the model to all 18 localities/clusters/neighbourhoods. The structured programme will be
tailored to suit local circumstances and will allow those parts of the system which are ready
to move at pace and scale to do so. It will also enable those still emerging and developing
their relationships to receive the appropriate support.

Item 11
Page 18

To support colleagues in primary care to prepare for PCH, we have also launched an
investment scheme that allows groups of practices and clusters to receive funding for
demonstrating that they are beginning to collaborate, share services, begin or enhance
multi-disciplinary working for the benefit of patients. The funding received will then be
reinvested in further local initiatives, for example in freeing up practices to undertake
leadership or organisational development.
In total, approximately £1m will be invested in primary care during 2018 and into 2019.
Creating the infrastructure for the future
Creating the PCH model in BLMK has provided us with the opportunity of thinking differently
about the existing workforce and estate. To support the transformation of the care model the
BLMK team has been working with our 16 partners to consider how a multidisciplinary team
approach will change the type of staff and roles required.
A new general practice workforce and development plan has been created which will see
investment in a range of new roles such as clinical pharmacists, and in ways of working,
recruitment and retention and education, training and development initiatives. The aim is to
develop a team approach, across health and social care services providing more
coordinated and joined up care and enhancing primary care services.
As well as investment in the BLMK workforce, a programme of work is in train to create new
health and care hubs across BLMK.
In Dunstable, a new £21m Integrated Primary Health and Care Hub is proposed. Working
collaboratively between Central Bedfordshire Council and Bedfordshire Clinical
Commissioning Group the hub will provide a focal point for proactive and preventative care,
out of hospital services and care packages for people who are vulnerable or have complex
care needs. This will include local access to a range of general, medical and nursing,
therapy, specialist and social care services and supporting information and advice systems.
It will provide a consolidated base for the locality’s integrated multidisciplinary approach, with
one team working across organisational boundaries. It is planned to open in 2020.
A similar hub is being planned in Biggleswade, to serve the Ivel Valley locality of Central
Bedfordshire. The £15m development is also expected to open in 2020.
National capital funding has been requested to modernise an existing facility in Bedford,
Gilbert Hitchcock House. A bid for £6m of investment has been submitted to NHS England to
create the first Health and Care Hub within Bedford Borough. This facility will provide the
lynchpin for delivering high quality, resilient and integrated health and care services at scale
to the population of central and north Bedford. This facility also planned to open in 2020.
There is further planning work taking place across the whole of BLMK to create hub facilities.
These hubs will provide much needed capacity to support the transformation of local
services in line with the NAPC Primary Care Model which underpins the STP enhanced
primary care.

Item 11
Page 19

Driving thought leadership

As one of eight national pilot Accountable Care Systems (ACS), BLMK has the opportunity
to work with and participate in, and influence, discussions at a national level on the future
models of care. One area we have been actively participating is in primary care, with NHSE
especially interested in the work we have been undertaking to develop our incentive scheme
and the NAPC programme. In early January, a group of ACS primary care leaders were
invited to meet the Prime Minister’s health advisor. Our own Dr Nina Pearson, BLMK GP
Clinical lead was part of the group that met at Downing Street earlier in the year.
New BLMK Finance Lead
We are pleased to announce that Jonathan Dunk has joined BLMK Finance Lead. Jonathan
will take over with immediate effect from Mike Keech.
Jonathan comes with a strong track record having been an NHS Provider Director of
Finance, a CCG Director of Finance, and also an Interim CCG AO. He was heavily involved
in the financial governance and development of an STP, and has the credibility and support
of our key external stakeholders.
Richard Carr, SRO for BLMK, said: “We have recognised for some time that there was need
for dedicated management for finance. Mike Keech has played a critical role in the initial
period of our STP and I would like to thank him for all his hard work.
“Jonathan joins us at a critical time and his immediate focus will be on bringing the system
together around an aligned plan, and to manage the interface between our system and key
stakeholders is the next step on delivering the expectations contained within the
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) we have agreed when we secured our position as a
Wave 1 Accountable Care System.
“I hope you will join me in welcoming Jonathan to the system.”

Item 11
Page 20

Engagement
Information Governance and sharing information – what you need to know now.
When: Tuesday 27 February, 2018 10.00 am – 3.00 pm
Where: Rufus Centre, Lockyer Suite, Steppingley Road, Flitwick, Bedfordshire,
The first workshop of 2018 will explore information governance and what this means for
information sharing across BLMK. This is your opportunity to find what work has been done
so far and discuss your concerns about the implications of sharing patient records.
During the day we will also be covering:





How we are supporting practices with preparing for the implementation of the Data
Protection Act 2018
Launching STP-wide information sharing agreement and discussing the benefits of
making the patient record available for the direct care pathway
Discuss what the barriers are and how we can help overcome these
Support available to the changes in S1 around information sharing.

Food and refreshments will be provided at the event. Places will be reserved on a first come,
first served basis. A full agenda will follow in the coming weeks.
To book your place email nicola.dowlen@mkuh.nhs.uk.
Clinical conversation
Over 100 colleagues from across BLMK gathered together at the Rufus Centre in Flitwick for
the first Clinical Conversation of 2018.

The evening was the first time the focus was on the health and wellbeing of young people
and was chaired by Professor Chris Ham, Chief Executive of the Kings Fund. Professor
Monica Lakhanpaul, Professor of Integrated Community Child Health at Great Ormond
Street Hospital, gave the evenings key note presentation and used the event to share
experiences around child centred care and support, providing flexible support and multiagency working and exploring the reasons for parents presenting at A&E.

Item 11
Page 21

The second half of the evening was used to open the discussion up to the audience who
were asked to consider eight key areas – acute care pathways; mental health; prevention;
vulnerable and looked after children; special education needs; participation, peer support
and commissioning; family resilience and support and; risky behaviours.
The round table discussions resulted in some lively debates but provided a wealth feedback
for the BLMK team to take forward. This included:





Involving children, young people and families in care
Use of technology for shared information between professionals, self-care app
development, virtual clinic and peer support
Shared care record with patient accessibility to manage own care
Pooling resources especially with small services. Also integration with adult services
for transition.

Call for Bedford residents to become new FT members
When the merger between Luton & Dunstable Hospital (L&D) and Bedford Hospital is
finalised a new Foundation Trust (FT) will be created. As a new FT, it will need a
membership that reflects the population which the two hospitals serve. The L&D is already a
FT with 16,000 members, however, there aren’t enough members from Bedford Borough to
fairly represent the population. A recruitment campaign was launched in November and
although over 500 new members have registered, more are needed.
FT Members have a say in how the hospitals are run, how healthcare is provided to patients
and can voice their concerns or make suggestions about future plans.
Initially people will be signed up to the L&D membership, however, at the point of merger,
membership will be automatically transferred across to the new integrated Trust. This is the
best opportunity for the people of Bedford to have a say in the future of the new FT. If you
are able to promote this within your own organisations or circles, please email
merger@ldh.nhs.uk or visit www.bedfordhospital.nhs.uk and click on the ‘Proposed Merger
and FT Membership’ box on the home page.
Ongoing communications with stakeholders and staff will continue as plans progress.
Information about the proposed merger can be found on both hospital websites
www.ldh.nhs.uk and www.bedfordhospital.nhs.uk or email merger@ldh.nhs.uk.

Finance
BLMK STP Cancer Transformation funds secured
BLMK STP has been awarded £1.2 million by the East of England Cancer Alliance to
transform cancer services across the region.
The funding will be used across BLMK to establish new ways of collaborative working which
will sustain performance, implement best practice cancer pathways and new models of care.
As part of the work a new cancer transformation delivery team will be established to initially
undertake baseline studies and understand the current state of play. Using best practice

Item 11
Page 22

cancer pathways the new team will be focussing on – using new methods for bowel
screening in primary care; prostate cancer pathway redesign and; lung cancer pathway.
Care homes digitisation funding agreed
Improving services for care home residents is a key priority for BLMK STP and this month
took a step forward with the announcement of £995,000 funding to build on work already
started in Luton and Central Bedfordshire.
The funding will be utilised to enable every care home in BLMK to have a robust Broadband
Wi-Fi available for staff and residents together with secure NHS Mail access and suitable
information governance training.
The provision of a NHS Mail will mean care homes can receive documentation directly from
the hospital, community health service or other care settings, enabling them to receive up-todate information to help them deliver better patient care and outcomes. Furthermore, Wi-Fi
access will provide visiting staff, with a cheaper and more efficient service and allowing them
to link with other initiatives to utilise technology for monitoring and alerting change.
If appropriate, residents will also be able to make use of technology such as Skype to keep
in touch with family and friends.
This initial investment will also provide the basis for the future provision of a shared care
record which will play an integral part in delivering an integrated care system.

Secondary care
Milton Keynes Hospital has launched the SystmOne Viewer in the Emergency Department.
This gives clinicians the ability to access a ‘read-only’ view of GP records for patients whose
GP uses SystmOne and who have consented to share out their information.
As SystmOne is the main GP record system in use across Milton Keynes, this means most
of the patients visiting the Emergency Department can now benefit from significantly
improved assessments of their condition.
Emergency Department clinicians no longer have to spend time trying to contact GP
surgeries for information, delaying sometimes critical clinical decisions regarding treatment,
leading to a much better patient experience and outcome from their hospital visit.
For patients who are not registered with a GP using SystmOne and those who have not
consented to share their information, there is still the ability to quickly launch the Summary
Care Record. Access to the system is via NHS SmartCards and takes just a few seconds to
find a patient’s record, record consent and then open it.
Dr Shindo Francis, Clinical Lead for the department, said: “This has had a significant impact
on early assessment of patients in ED and has been well received in the department.”

Item 12
Page 1

Central Bedfordshire Council
SOCIAL CARE, HEALTH & HOUSING OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
19th March 2018

The Future of Westlands Older Persons Home, Leighton
Buzzard
Report of: Cllr Carole Hegley Executive Member for Adults, Social Care and
Housing Operations (HRA), (carole.hegley@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
Responsible Director(s): Julie Ogley, Director of Social Care, Health and
Housing, (julie.ogley@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
This report relates to a decision that is Key
Purpose of this report
1.

To consider the outcome of the consultation into the future of Westlands
Older Persons Home (OPH) and make recommendations to a future
meeting of the Executive.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Committee is asked to:
1.

Consider the outcome of the consultation into the future of
Westlands Older Persons Home.

2.

Provide its views and recommendations which will be
communicated to the Executive before it makes a decision on
the future of Westlands Older Persons Home.

Background
2.

Westlands OPH is a 30-place care home situated in Duncombe Drive,
Leighton Buzzard. It provides long term and short-term care for older
people including those with dementia. At its most recent inspection
(published in August 2017) the home was rated overall as ‘Good’ by the
Care Quality Commission (CQC).

3.

Westlands is one of seven care homes for older people owned by
Central Bedfordshire Council. The Council’s intention for all of those
homes is that the capacity in them is replaced by capacity in new care
homes nearby that offer the more up to date facilities that older people

Item 12
Page 2
have a right to expect.
4.

To date the capacity in three of the seven homes has been reprovided
with the future of four homes remaining to be decided, of which one is
Westlands.

5.

In order to facilitate the delivery of replacement care home capacity, the
Council acquired the site of the former magistrates court and police
station at Hockliffe Road, Leighton Buzzard when it was made available
for disposal by Bedfordshire Constabulary. The Council subsequently
obtained outline planning consent for a 68-place care home on the site
and is now in the process of selecting a care home provider to construct
and operate a home. The target date a home to be operational is 31st
March 2020.

6.

Westlands OPH is on a site adjacent to a day centre for older people –
Westlands Day Centre. The two buildings were constructed at the same
time during the 1970’s and are understood to share some utilities
connections. The future of the service operated from Westlands Day
Centre will be considered as part of the programme to deliver the new
Day Offer over the next three years. This process will include full
engagement and consultation with the people who use the centre and
their carers.

7.

The new Day Offer envisages that in the future many day services will
be provided in an integrated way alongside other uses including older
persons homes. For this reason, the specification for the home at
Hockliffe Road includes the option to have space for day care facilities.

8.

At its meeting on 1st August 2017 the Executive approved the following
actions in relation to the future of Westland OPH:
a. To undertake a formal consultation on proposals for the future of
Westlands OPH.
b. To commence a procurement process to identify a preferred
provider for a care home on the Hockliffe Road site.
c. To submit a report to a future meeting of the Executive advising of
the outcome of the consultation and procurement processes and
making recommendations about the future of the home and a
preferred provider.

9.

This report focusses on the consultation about the future of the home but
also contains information about the progress of the procurement and
how it is proposed that the two matters are considered by the Executive
before making a final decision.

Consultation Process on the Future of Westlands OPH
10.

The consultation process lasted for 12 weeks, from 14th August 2017
6th November 2017.

Item 12
Page 3
11.

Consultees were asked for their views on six options. These were:
a. Doing nothing – continue to run Westlands in its present form.
a. Facilitate the construction of a new home in the area, relocating
existing residents to new homes and closing Westlands – the
Council’s preferred option.
b. Transferring Westlands to another organisation to run as a going
concern.
c. Building a new home on Westlands site – moving residents to
alternative homes, demolishing the old home and building a new
one.
d. Running the home down – stopping new admissions to the home
but keeping it open for an agreed period of time or until it had no
residents.
e. Refurbishing the home so that it meets modern standards.

12.

Consultees were also given the opportunity to identify other options
and put forward proposals.

13.

The Council set out in the consultation the offer to residents of
alternative accommodation should the home close. This is:
a. Residents would be accommodated in a home that offers a good
quality of care.
b. Residents would be offered alternative accommodation in a home
that meets modern physical and environmental standards and
customer expectations.
c. Residents would be accommodated in a home that can meet their
assessed eligible care and support needs.
d. Where residents choose to leave Central Bedfordshire to be closer
to relatives or friends the Council would facilitate this.
e. Residents would be accommodated in a home that is a reasonable
distance from their current home.
f. Residents who expressed the wish to move as a group would be
accommodated where possible.
g. Residents would not be required to move more than once.

14.

In conjunction with the core offer set out above, resident’s individual
wishes, and circumstances would be further taken into account where
at all possible. Examples of this would include:
a. Where a resident wished to move to a different location to be close
to a relative.
b. Where a resident wished to move to another type of
accommodation

15.

In order to be able to honour the offer set out in the consultation the
Council’s intention is to secure sufficient places at the care home in
Hockliffe Road to be able to offer all of the permanent residents at

Item 12
Page 4
Westlands a place there (subject to the home being able to meet their
care needs).
16.

The consultation documents in relation to the future of Westlands are
set out in Appendices A, B and C.

17.

In order to ensure that the people most affected by any changes were
involved in the consultation process, the following activities were
undertaken during the consultation period:
a. Before it commenced, meetings were held for residents, relatives
and staff advising them of the proposals and explaining about the
consultation period.
b. Relatives and residents were offered ‘one-to-one’ meetings with
members of the consultation team to discuss the options.
c. Residents, relatives and other stakeholders were provided with
regular updates about the progress of the consultation and what
was planned to take place.
d. Staff were offered ‘one-to-one’ meetings with members of the
consultation team to discuss the options.

18.

Particular attention was given to supporting residents to be involved in
the consultation process even though some lacked mental capacity to
fully understand the Council’s proposals. The ability of all residents to
participate in the consultation was assessed by a social worker,
undertaking an assessment in accordance with the principles of the
Mental Capacity Act 2005.

19.

The assessments undertaken during the course of the consultation
period showed that nine residents had capacity to take part in the
consultation and were assisted to do so. Five residents were assessed
not to have capacity to participate meaningfully in the consultation,
however of those two could give their view to a limited extent. Two
residents were not consulted as the view of the assessor and the
residents’ families was that consultation was not in the best interests of
their relative, due to the potential for upset and confusion that could
arise from the process.

20.

All residents had friends or relatives who were able to support them in
participating in the consultation or contribute on their behalf.

21.

During the consultation period, a mid-point document was published
that set out the most common questions asked during the process so
far with answers. This document appears as Appendix D.

22.

A total of 25 full responses were received to the consultation. In
addition, information from meetings with residents and relatives was
captured and incorporated into the consultation report. These are set
out in full in Appendix E and the key issues raised are discussed in the
next section.

Item 12
Page 5
Main Issues Raised in the Consultation
23.

The main issues raised during the consultation are set out below:
a. The idea of refurbishing or rebuilding Westlands on the same site.
b. The suitability of the Hockliffe Road site for a care home.
c. The quality of care that would be offered by an independent care
provider.
d. The cost of care in any replacement home.
e. The need to focus on good quality care rather than physical
facilities.
f. The reason for the long timescale and the belief that a decision had
already been made.
g. The impact of moving on current residents.
h. Providing support for residents and staff at Westlands following a
decision about its future.

24.

The idea of refurbishing or rebuilding Westlands on the same site:
These options were discussed in the consultation document along with
the reasons why they were not felt to be the best ones: refurbishing the
home would still result in a home that was small by modern standards
and would lack some important facilities. Rebuilding on site would be
feasible but would require the home to close resulting in disruption to
residents and we could not guarantee that they could be
accommodated at homes nearby or with their friends during the
construction period.

25.

The suitability of the Hockliffe Road site for a care home compared with
Westlands in terms of its outlook and location: The outlook to the rear of
Westlands over the Recreation Ground provides residents with views of
trees and, whilst there will be landscaped gardens at the home in
Hockliffe Rd, it will lack this type of view. The Hockliffe Rd site is in a
largely residential area with mainly Victorian terraced properties
whereas Westlands is part of the town centre development of more
municipal buildings such as the Fire Station and former telephone
exchange. The site in Hockliffe Rd allows for a similar level of easy
access to the town centre of Leighton Buzzard as is achieved at
Westlands. On balance it is considered that the benefit of improved
facilities on the Hockliffe Rd site would significantly outweigh the disbenefit of the less attractive view.

26.

Should there be a decision to close Westlands then residents would
have a choice about where they moved to. Whilst there would be
enough places at the Hockliffe Rd home for those who wanted to go
there if someone, for example, wanted to be in a home which had views
of trees and the countryside then we would try to arrange this. There
are several homes in the Leighton Buzzard area that are in more rural
locations.

Item 12
Page 6
27.

The quality of care that would be offered by an independent care
provider: There is no evidence to support the view that in general
independently-run homes have lower quality of care than council-run
ones. The Council works with all local providers to monitor and, where
necessary, seek improvements in the quality of care. All care homes are
subject to the same national inspection regime.

28.

In addition, in seeking a provider to build and run a new home in
Hockliffe Rd the Council will only consider bids from experienced
providers that have a strong track record in delivering good quality care.

29.

The cost of care in any replacement home: Most independent care
homes in Central Bedfordshire provide places to people who are placed
by the Council and to people who arrange and pay for their own place.
Part of the requirements for the care home provider of the Hockliffe Rd
is that the fees for anyone moving from Westlands would be at the
normal Council rates.

30.

The need to focus on good quality care rather than physical facilities:
The Council believes that residents in care homes should be entitled to
both good quality care and good quality facilities. The aim of this
initiative is to maintain or improve the quality of care for residents whilst
significantly improving the quality of the accommodation.

31.

The reason for the long timescale and the belief that a decision had
already been made: It was an option to delay a decision on the future of
Westlands until the Hockliffe Rd home was nearing completion but it
was considered that this would be less satisfactory solution as it could
be argued that the Council had effectively made a decision about the
future of Westlands already and that a consultation was ‘just going
through the motions’. A consequence of the approach that has been
adopted is that, if a decision is made that Westlands will close when the
new home opens, the Council will need to keep in close contact with
residents and relatives during the intervening period.

32.

The impact of moving on current residents: The Council has a team of
staff that has developed considerable experience and expertise in
arranging and managing moves when it is decided that a care home will
close. The experience of doing this is that with careful and sensitive
management a move can be positive for residents.

33.

Support for Westlands following a decision about its future: We agree
that support will be required for residents, relatives and staff in the
home. Following any decision, the Council will set out clearly how we
propose to communicate with and support all those people affected.

34.

The Council has commissioned a video which explains how it works
with residents and relatives when a decision has been made about the
future of a care home. This is available at: https://youtu.be/_rthz--ctWw.

Procurement of a new Care Home at Hockliffe Road
35.

The Council’s approach to the provision of a new home to replace the
capacity at Westlands has been to acquire the site of the former

Item 12
Page 7
magistrates’ court and (more recently) police station in Hockliffe Road,
Leighton Buzzard and to offer this site to the care provider market to
develop and operate a care home for older people there.
36.

The conditions which will attach to any sale will require the provider to
develop the site for a care home and to offer the Council up to 30
places at that home at its standard rates. The target date for the new
home to open is 31st March 2020.

37.

In offering the site in this way the Council is required to follow the same
rules as it does when it undertakes a high value procurement. The
procurement process was formally launched on 16th February 2018 and
the final date for receipt of bids is 27th April 2018.

38.

Whilst price is a significant factor in the evaluation of the bids, the track
record of the provider in providing good quality care for residents and in
working with local authorities will also be taken into account.

39.

It is expected that the outcome of the bids will be reported to the
meeting of the Executive scheduled for June 2018 alongside the
outcome of the consultation on the future of Westlands OPH and the
views of this committee.

Council Priorities
40.

This activity supports the Council’s priorities to protect the vulnerable,
and to become a more efficient and responsive Council.

Corporate Implications
41.

No implications other than those set out in the sections below have
been identified.

Legal Implications
42.

Where a Council is contemplating changes to care and support services
it has a public law duty to consult with those who would be affected and
there is clear guidance and precedent about how consultation should be
conducted and the part they would play in future decision-making. If the
recommendations in this report are approved, it is important that the
consultation complies with government guidance and case law
otherwise the Council is at risk of successful challenge through the
complaints procedure, by way of judicial review or other challenge.

43.

The Council must ensure that the Care Act 2014 is considered (where
appropriate) and adhered to when making decisions relating to the
provision of care.

44.

The Council has a duty under the Human Rights Act 1998 to ensure
that its actions are not incompatible with the Rights under the European
Convention on Human Rights, ‘The Convention’. The Council will
therefore need to consider whether the proposed move to a new home
is likely to breach any of the service user’s rights under Articles 8, 3,

Item 12
Page 8
and 2. If the decision is likely to breach the Convention, the Council will
need to explore any particular facts and determine if such a breach is
proportionate and justified.
45.

The Council will need to consider employment law issues, including
TUPE, in respect of staff at the home.

46.

If residents are to move, then the Council will need to ensure that it
complies will the relevant law relating to the making of decisions in
respect of individual residents and that the appropriate deprivation of
liberty safeguards are in place.

47.

In contracting with an operator for the delivery of a replacement the
Council will need to follow the law in relation to Procurement as set out
in the Public Contract Regulations 2015.

Financial Implications
48.

There are no financial implications arising from this report. The financial
issues arising from the outcome of the consultation and
recommendation(s) will be addressed in the report to the Executive prior
to a decision being made on the future of the home.

Equalities Implications
49.

Central Bedfordshire Council has a statutory duty to promote equality of
opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and
victimisation and foster good relations in respect of nine protected
characteristics; age disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and
sexual orientation. The Equality Act 2010 requires public bodies to:
a.

Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by people.

b.

Take steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups.

c.

Encourage people to participate in public life or other activities
where participation is low.

50.

Public bodies must be able to demonstrate that consideration of this
legal duty has been engaged during all stages of the decision-making
process from beginning to end and that decision makers are aware of
their legal obligations. Decision making must be exercised “in
substance, with rigour and with an open mind.”

51.

In coming to a decision, the Council will consider an equality impact
assessment which is currently being prepared. The assessment will
demonstrate consideration of:

Item 12
Page 9
d.

a well-researched business case relating to the proposal, including
appropriate financial and statistical analysis.

e.

the range of possible options that have been investigated.

f.

the findings of consultation (group and individual) with residents
(including advocates where necessary), their relatives and other
stakeholders. The consultation process will highlight the Council’s
preferred option and will outline alternative options that have been
considered.

g.

the findings of previous individual care assessments considering
impairments, support needs and cultural / social requirements.

h.

adverse impacts and ways in which these can be mitigated or
minimized.

52.

The above findings will all be reported accurately to decision makers at
the meeting of Executive which will make a decision about the future of
the home.

53.

Case law relating to requirements of the Human Rights Act 1998 (‘the
1998 Act’) indicates that before taking a decision to close a care home,
the effect on the residents must be investigated. A public body must
ensure that any consultation investigates the potential effect of the
closure on the residents’ emotional, psychological and physical health
and must comply with its obligations under the 1998 Act.

54.

It should also be borne in mind that that a decision which potentially
restricts a human right does not necessarily mean that it will be
incompatible with the 1998 Act. Public bodies also need to take into
account other general interests of the community. Some rights can
therefore be restricted where it is necessary and proportionate to do so
in order to achieve a legitimate aim. Provided a restriction of such a
right has a legitimate aim and the restriction itself does not go any
further than necessary to protect this aim, then it is likely that it will be
compatible with the 1998 Act. In this way the 1998 Act recognises that
there are certain situations where a public body is allowed to restrict
individual rights in the best interests of the wider community.

Conclusion and next Steps
55. The Committee is asked to consider the outcome of the consultation and
to make recommendations which will be incorporated into a report to a
future meeting of the Executive.
Appendices
Appendix A:
Appendix B:

Have Your Say on the Future of Westlands
Options Considered for the Future of Westlands

Item 12
Page 10
Appendix C:
Appendix D:
Appendix E:

Westlands Consultation Questionnaire
Westlands Consultation Mid-Point Update
Consultation Report on the Future of Westlands

Background Papers
None
Report author(s): Tim Hoyle MANOP Head of Service
tim.hoyle@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Appendix A

Item 12
Page 11

…on the future of Westlands
Older Persons’ Home
Find out more about the consultation process and how you
can have your say on the future of Westlands

Item 12
Page 12

Item 12
Page 13

Why do we consult?
Councillors are responsible for making decisions for the Council. Holding a consultation gives
those directly affected by a proposed decision the opportunity to have their say and influence
the decision that is made. Those directly affected, community organisations and the general
public are encouraged to review the proposals and feedback their opinions and ideas to the
Council.
During the consultation process you can request further information, ask questions and request
that the Council looks into alternative options that have not been identified.
All comments made during the consultation process are recorded. The Council will publish its
response to these comments and this information will be taken into account by Councillors so
they can make an informed decision.

What we are consulting on
Central Bedfordshire Council wants the best possible quality of life for all its residents and is
committed to developing and improving accommodation with care for older people. The Council
owns and operates five care homes which were built several decades ago and which currently
no longer meet the expectations of customers and regulators in terms of facilities and
accommodation.
The Council has been investigating options and opportunities in the Leighton Buzzard area and
has secured a site in Hockliffe Road which would be suitable for a new care home.
The Council is therefore consulting on the future of Westlands Care Home. Having reviewed a
number of options for the future of the home, the Council’s current preferred option is to secure
the development of new care home capacity at Hockliffe Road, Leighton Buzzard with sufficient
places at that home for anyone at Westlands who wishes to go there, and then to close
Westlands.
If agreed this option will take a minimum of two years to implement during which time it is
intended that Westlands would remain open.
If you would like to take part in this or would like more information about what we are proposing
for this service please see the information at www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/consultations or
contact us using the details at the end of this document.

Consultation Timetable
Key Date
th

Activity

14 August 2017

Consultation opens

6th November 2017

Consultation ends

3rd April 2018

Report to Executive for decision

13th April 2018

Implementation of Executive decision

Item 12
Page 14

How we will consult
Everyone can respond to the consultation by reading this factsheet, which has a summary of the
proposals, and completing the consultation questionnaire. There is more information in the
document ‘Options Considered for the Future of Westlands Care Home’ which we would
encourage people to read before responding.
If you have any questions about the options, need more information or would like the Council to
consider other ideas these would be welcome. The ways you can contact the Council are
explained at the end of this factsheet.
For those people who are most directly affected by the proposal – the people who live at
Westlands, their relatives and the staff who work there – we will organise meetings and events
to enable everyone who wants to, to participate in the consultation.
We will take special care to ensure that the people who live in the home are consulted, without
causing distress to those who may have difficulty understanding what is happening. We will
discuss this with the people who know the residents best – their relatives and the staff in the
home.
For those residents who may need help, we will offer support through advocates provided by
POhWER, an independent organisation, who will assist them to ensure that they can express
their views.
The consultation activities with residents and relatives will be tailored to individual requirements
and the options that will be offered include:
Meetings held at Westlands for residents, relatives and staff - either in small groups or
one to one.
Meetings held in areas local to relatives for those who find it difficult to get to the home.
Communications via post or email to residents, relatives and staff to inform them of
activities and the progress of the consultation.
In addition members of the consultation team are available to meet with other individuals and
organisations who would like to hear more about the proposals. Our contact details are at the
end of this factsheet.

What the proposals are trying to achieve
A number of options in relation to the future of Westlands care home have been considered and
evaluated against three important questions. These are:
Improved quality of accommodation – will the option mean that the current or future
residents of Westlands will be living in homes that have good quality care and meet
modern standards of facilities and accommodation?
Minimal disruption – what degree of disruption to the lives of current residents would
result from the option in question and what will the impact of this be on their health and
wellbeing?
Value for money – would the option represent good value for money– both in the short
term and the longer term?

Item 12
Page 15

The options we have considered
The Council has considered the following options:
Doing nothing – continue to run Westlands in its present form.

Facilitate the construction of a new home in the area, relocating existing residents to new
homes and closing Westlands.
Transferring Westlands to another organisation to run as a going concern.
Building a new home on Westlands site – moving residents to alternative homes,
demolishing the old home and building a new one.
Running the home down – stopping new admissions to the home but keeping it open for
an agreed period of time or until it had no residents.
Refurbishing the home so that it meets modern standards.
These options are set out in more detail in the document ‘Options Considered for the Future of
Westlands Care Home’.

How we have evaluated the options
In the table below we have summarised how these options have been evaluated.
Options
Do nothing

Outcomes

Relocate to
better
homes

Sell as
going
concern

Rebuild

Run down

Refurbish

Improved quality of
accommodation
Minimal disruption
Value for money

Preferred Option
Having considered these options for the future of Westlands, the Council’s preferred option at
this stage is to facilitate the creation of a new home in the area and helping to relocate existing
residents to new homes. The Council would then close Westlands.
This is the preferred option because:
Improved quality of accommodation: it enables existing residents to live in care homes
that meet physical and environmental standards and deliver good quality care.
Minimal disruption for existing residents: any move would mean some disruption for
existing residents, which could have a negative impact on their health and wellbeing.
Whilst the preferred option would require existing residents to move, this would only
happen once and measures could be put in place to minimise any risks to their health
and wellbeing
Value for money: if the independent care home sector is prepared to invest in the building
and operation of a new home then this would allow the Council to use its resources in

Item 12
Page 16
other areas of need. In this scenario significant direct investment in a care home in this
area would not represent good value for money to the Council and its council tax payers.
Although this is the preferred option we want to hear your views before coming to a decision.
This is why the consultation process is so important.

Have your say
We want to know the views of current residents, their relatives and others who have an interest
in the future of Westlands Care Home. We also want to understand what the impact will be on
individuals and how we might reduce this.
A copy of this factsheet and a more detailed briefing document - ‘Options Considered for the
Future of Westlands Care Home’ is available on the web site for the public and hard copies will
be available on request.
You can ask us any questions or tell us your view through the methods on the next page. We
are particularly keen to get your answers to the following questions:
What are your views on the Council’s preferred option?
Are there any options that you think are not correctly evaluated?
Are there any options listed that you think the Council should investigate in more detail?
Are there any other options that you think the Council should consider that are not in the
document?
Do you have any further comments about the future of the home?
What could the Council do to minimise the impact of any changes on existing residents
and their relatives.
Do you have any other comments about the provision of accommodation for residents at
Westlands?

For more information
Visit our website for more information and complete our online questionnaire:
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/consultations
Email us at: Consultations@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
Write to us at: FREEPOST RSJS GBBZ SRZT (you do not need a stamp)
Westlands Older Persons Home Consultation
Central Bedfordshire Council
Priory House, Monks Walk
Chicksands, Shefford
SG17 5TQ
The consultation is open until 6th November 2017

If you need information in alternative formats or languages…
Email
Telephone
Website

consultations@centralbedfordshirecouncil.gov.uk
0300 300 6609
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/consultations

Item 12
Page 17
Notes

Item 12
Page 18

Central
Bedfordshire

in contact

Find out more
For more information about this
publication, further copies,
or a large print copy, get in touch.

www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
www.facebook.com/letstalkcentral
@letstalkcentral

Please recycle me!

customers@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

When finished with, please put me
in your recycling bin or bag.

0300 300 8000

CM374_14

Appendix B
Central Bedfordshire Council
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Item 12
Page 19

Options Considered for the Future of
Westlands Older Persons’ Home
This document provides detailed information about the options currently being considered
in relation to the future of Westlands care home. It aims to support people who wish to
participate in the consultation process about the future of the care home and should help
people make an informed response to the consultation questionnaire.
For more information about what consultation is, how it works and how you can contribute
please read the factsheet ‘Have your say on the Future of Westlands Care Home’.

Reasons for Review
Nationally and locally, people are living longer. Quite rightly the expectations of older
people and their relatives have got higher, and as a council, our ambitions for the care and
support of older people have also increased.
Central Bedfordshire Council wants the best possible quality of life for its residents and has
been looking at how it can secure this both now and for future generations.
In this context we have been reviewing the Council’s own residential care homes. These
were built some decades ago and no longer meet the higher standards and expectations of
our residents.
The Council has been investigating options and opportunities in the Leighton Buzzard area
and has secured a site in Hockliffe Road which would be suitable for a new care home.
The Council is therefore consulting on the future of Westlands Care Home. Having
reviewed a number of options for the future of the home, the Council’s current preferred
option is to secure the development of new care home capacity at Hockliffe Road, Leighton
Buzzard with sufficient places at that home for anyone at Westlands who wishes to go
there, and then to close Westlands.
If agreed this option will take a minimum of two years to implement during which time it is
intended that Westlands would remain open.

Options Considered
When considering the future of Westlands the Council has considered and evaluated a
number of options.
The outcome of our consideration to date is set out below.
1. Doing nothing
What would this
mean in practice?

The Council would continue to own and operate Westlands.
No changes would be made to the building or the
arrangement for the delivery of care.

Cost

Estimated annual running cost (including staffing, utilities,
day- to-day repairs and maintenance and supplies) are
£784k. These are the direct costs incurred in the home and

Central Bedfordshire Council
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Item 12
Page 20

do not include management or corporate overheads.
Estimated future capital repairs and maintenance £500k1.
These running costs for Westlands equate to an estimated
£575 per place per week.
The current fee for 'full cost' payers for Westlands is £504.57
per week
Approximate
timescales

Immediate, as it would be a continuation of the existing
arrangement.

Assumptions

None

Advantages

Disadvantages

There would be no disruption to residents as they would
remain where they are.
The residents care would continue to be delivered by
staff with whom they are familiar.
The staff in the home would not be affected.
Existing and future residents will not live in
accommodation that meets modern expectations which
could lead to a reduced quality of life.
The Council will not have fulfilled its commitment to
deliver a better offer to residents and replace its own care
homes with capacity in homes that meet modern
expectations.
The existing building would need significant investment
and disruptive works to extend its useful life.
In the Council’s role of managing the market it may be
problematic for the Council to seek to improve standards
elsewhere in the market if it had taken the decision not to
improve its own services.
This option does not take the opportunity to move
residents to a nearby new care home that meets modern
standards. Experience shows that new homes generally
become fully occupied quickly and the Council will have
missed this opportunity. Whilst new care homes may be
built in the wider area in the future this is by no means
certain.

Initial assessment:
Doing nothing is not considered to be a desirable option as it does not deliver an
improved service for existing and future residents.

1

This is an estimate based on the amount required to renew aspects of the building that are coming to the
end of their useful life and assuming that there is a need to extend the use of the building for an indefinite
period. If there is a need only to extend the life of the building for a limited period then this sum could be
reduced.

Item 12
Page 21

Central Bedfordshire Council
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

2. Secure the development of new care home capacity with sufficient places at
that home for anyone at Westlands who wishes to go there, and then to close
Westlands
What would this
mean in practice?

Cost

Undertake a procurement process with care home
providers to determine a suitable provider for the new
home.
Executive makes a decision about preferred provider and
the future of Westlands
Ensure that prospective new residents at Westlands are
informed about the plans for its future and how they would
be affected.
Finalise arrangements for new home.
Construction of new home.
Stop new admissions to Westlands.
Engage with residents and their representatives to gain an
understanding of their needs and preferences.
Undertake assessments as necessary for each resident.
Provide residents with a choice of alternative
accommodation that meets their needs and preferences
and are within a reasonable distance. The home(s)
suggested would offer good quality care, modern physical
and environmental standards and fee rates that are in line
with the Council’s fee structure or the host Local Authority
rates.
Prepare for relocation, including logistical arrangements
and having care staff from the new home coming to meet
residents and learn their routines, likes and dislikes.
Manage the moves to alternative accommodation,
following accepted best practice.
Undertake staff consultation and determine the outcome
for the individuals concerned.
Formally close Westlands.
The costs will not be confirmed until residents have chosen
where they would like to move to. However, residents would
be relocated to homes where the fee rates are in line with the
Council’s fee structure or the host Local Authority rates (if the
home is out of area).
The Council’s fee structure only applies to care homes in
Central Bedfordshire and is based on the following quality
bands. The fees are reviewed each year:
Adequate - £511.92 a week
Good - £524.75 a week

Item 12
Page 22

Central Bedfordshire Council
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Excellent - £537.65 a week
If a home has attained the Council’s dementia accreditation
then an additional £15.00 a week will be paid for residents
with a diagnosis of dementia.
The running costs for Westlands equate to an estimated £575
per place per week.
The Council would no longer have to pay to run, repair and
maintain the home.
Approximate
timescales

Undertake a procurement process with care home providers
to determine a suitable provider for the new home – 4 months
Finalise contractual arrangements for new home – 2 months
Make arrangements for construction of new home – 5 months
Construction of new home – 12 months
Undertake assessments and discuss options with residents
and their representatives – 6 weeks
Make choices about a future home, prepare for relocation and
make moves at appropriate times – up to 4 months
Staff consultation period – 3 months
Formal closure of Westlands – 3 weeks

Assumptions
Advantages

Disadvantages

The Council is able to secure sufficient places in new homes
to meet the needs of Westlands residents.
Existing and future residents will live in a home that meets
modern standards.
Some residents could use this opportunity to move to a
home that is nearer to family and friends.
The approach supports the independent care home market
because the Council will no longer be competing with them
for customers.
The approach is fair and open to the care home market, as
all homes that meet modern standards and deliver good
care will be considered as relocation options for residents.
The Council will no longer have to invest significant funds
to maintain and repair an old building that does not meet
standards.
The Council would have a surplus site which could be
disposed of or given an alternative use.
Residents’ health and wellbeing may be negatively
impacted by the disruption of a move and, in mitigation,
active measures would be taken to minimise these risks.
The Council has experience and developed best practice
to help residents prepare for any move and familiarise

Central Bedfordshire Council
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Item 12
Page 23

themselves with their new home and care staff (for
example, using photos, visits and short videos). The
Council would also follow best practice in a thorough
handover process with the new home.
Friends and relatives of a small number of residents may
have to travel further to the new home.
Although it is not possible to be specific about what would
happen to the staff at Westlands, it appears unlikely that
staff would transfer to the homes with the residents as
TUPE regulations (Transfer of Undertakings, Protection of
Employment) would not apply.
Initial assessment
Relocating existing residents at Westlands to care homes that meet people’s
expectation in respect of physical and environmental standards is considered to be a
favourable option as it allows existing and future residents to live in good quality
accommodation as well as receive good quality care. By following and applying best
practice, the Council would seek to minimise the risks of the disruption caused by
moving residents, and for some, this could prove to be a positive experience. This
option represents good value for money to the Council as it requires no additional
capital investment. It also supports care home operators that provide modern
accommodation and good care.

3. Sell Westlands as a ‘going concern’ to another care home provider
What would this
mean in practice?

Cost

Advertise Westlands on the open market.
If an acceptable offer is made, enter into negotiations and
secure the sale of the site with the care home business as
a going concern.
The Council will cease owning and operating Westlands.
A new care home provider will operate Westlands as a
care home.
Residents would remain in the home and new residents
would continue to be admitted
The staff in the home would have the right to transfer
under TUPE regulations. It is most likely that the new
company would retain the staff at Westlands but they
could be required to work anywhere within the new
organisation.
The Council would not enter into any specific contractual
arrangement with the new provider other than for existing
residents.
The Council to oversee disposal which would necessarily
include the procurement of specialist external support in
marketing care provision. The estimated fees are c. 2% plus

Central Bedfordshire Council
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Item 12
Page 24

legal costs).
Estimated advertising cost, including a full information pack,
promotion and direct approach to care home operators,
estimated at £5k.
In 2012 Bidwells valued the site at around £900k if the
existing use of Westlands continued with no block contract
arrangement in place.
Approximate
timescales

Appoint external marketing consultant – 2 weeks
Create information pack – 3 weeks
Advertise Westlands for sale – 3 months
Execution of sale – 2 months

Assumptions

Advantages

Disadvantages

An operator is willing to purchase a home that does not
meet modern standards and is able to get the home
registered by CQC (Care Quality Commission).
An operator is willing to purchase an old building that is in
need of significant investment and is considered to be
smaller than what most operators require to be
economically viable.
An operator is willing to take on the financial commitments
that a TUPE transfer would entail (notably pension
liabilities).
The residents can remain in the home. However, a
change of care home operator may lead to changes in the
way care is delivered and how the home is managed.
Existing staff would transfer to the new provider and are
likely to remain working at the home.
The Council would no longer have to invest significant
funds to maintain and repair an old building that does not
meet standards.
The Council would receive some income from the sale of
Westlands.
The Council is unlikely to find an operator to purchase
Westlands as it does not meet modern standards, the
building is old so requires considerable investment and it is
smaller than what most operators are looking for.
The existing and future residents of the home will not live
in accommodation that meets modern standards.
The new operator may change the fee rates. This could
have a significant impact on the fees charged to self
funders.
An incoming operator may change care practices within
the home.
It would be very difficult to guarantee the future of the
home under a new operator.

Central Bedfordshire Council
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Item 12
Page 25

The fact that TUPE regulations would apply would affect
the operating costs and will deter some operators and/or
impact the sale value.
Initial assessment
This option would be acceptable to the Council. However, our understanding is that it
is very unlikely that an operator would purchase Westlands for reasons of scale,
facilities, condition and the TUPE implications.

4. Build a new care home on the site after demolition of the existing building
What would this
mean in practice?

Cost

The Council would analyse options, prepare feasibility
studies and develop a proposal for the construction of the
new care home.
This would include securing capital funding, planning
consents and procurement of specialist architectural
advice
Move residents into alternative care home
accommodation either on a temporary or permanent
basis depending on customer choice.
Demolish the existing building.
Construct new home.
Staff the new home.
Move the residents who wish it back to the new home.
Building a new 60 bed care home would cost in the region of
£8-9m.
If the alternative accommodation is made available at the
Council’s rates the fees would be between £511.92 and
£537.65 a week.
The new home would not be available for 12-18 months so
the Council would incur additional staff related costs.

Approximate
timescales

Write Business Case and Executive Report to request
approval to invest in constructing a new home on the
Westlands site – 3 months.
Tender for architect – 2 months
Produce concept design – 3 months
Obtain Planning Permission – 3 months
Tender design and build contract – 8 months
Move residents to other homes – 6 weeks
Construction – 12 months

Central Bedfordshire Council
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Item 12
Page 26

Commissioning and occupation of new home – 3 months
Assumptions
Advantages
Disadvantages

Planning Permission will be granted for a new home of
sufficient size to be viable.
A new home that meets modern standards will be available
at Westlands for existing and future residents.
This option would require residents to move more than
once if they wished to return to the replacement home.
Their health and wellbeing may be negatively impacted by
this disruption and active measures would need to be
taken to minimise these risks. Best practice would be
followed to help residents to prepare for any move and
familiarise themselves with their new home. For these
reasons, in practice, a relatively small proportion of existing
residents are likely to move to a replacement home when it
is completed.
Residents may not be able to move together as a group
into alternative care home accommodation. This could
break up friendship groups.
The consequences of this option for staff are complicated
as they would not be required at Westlands until the new
home is complete, which could be at least a year. The
Council would incur additional staff-related costs and it
may not be possible to retain staff.
Building a new 60 bed care home would cost in the region
of £7-9m. The Council have not made provisions for this in
the budget and may need to stop or delay other projects in
order to fund this.
It would be difficult for the Council to justify why it has
chosen to invest in a new care home when the market is
building new homes and is able to meet the demand
without Westlands.
The existing site is somewhat constrained which would
restrict its scale and layout. This in turn could impact on
the economic viability of the home and its ability to operate
successfully.

Initial assessment
Building a new care home on the site after the existing building is demolished is not
currently considered to be a desirable option because it would cause considerable
disruption to residents as they would all have to move once and those that wanted to
return would move twice. In addition, investing in a new-build care home in an area
that has enough modern care home places to meet demand would not be a good use
of the scarce public resources.

Central Bedfordshire Council
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Item 12
Page 27

5. Stop new admissions and close after a set period of time – run down the home
What would this
mean in practice?

Cost

Approximate
timescales
Assumptions

Advantages

Disadvantages

Council agrees to stop admissions to the home.
Council continues to own and operate the home.
Over time, beds will become vacant but these will not be
offered to new residents.
The number of staff will be reduced gradually as the
number of residents decrease.
The home will close when the number of residents drops
below an agreed number or after an agreed period of time.
The staffing, supplies and utility costs will decrease as the
number of residents decrease but the running cost per
resident will increase.
The duration that the home will remain open for is unknown.
CQC would find this approach acceptable.
This can be delivered without risking the safety, health and
well being of residents.
The majority of the existing residents will not have to
move.
The Council would eventually have a surplus site which
could be disposed of or given an alternative use.
Existing residents will not live in accommodation that
meets modern standards which could lead to a reduced
quality of life.
It may become difficult to maintain an active, vibrant
atmosphere in the building as vacancy levels increase. It
could become very isolating for the last remaining
residents.
Operating a home that has a diminishing number of
residents can lead to safety and management issues.
It would be difficult to maintain staffing over a long period
of time.
It may be difficult to retain good quality staff, especially at a
senior level.
Any residents that are left after the agreed period of time
would have to move to an alternative care home.
The running cost per resident will increase as the number
of residents decreases.

Initial assessment
Stopping admissions to the home and closing after a set period of time is not currently
considered to be a desirable option. The home will have the feeling of being wound
down, which is likely to affect the mental wellbeing of residents, as the home will
become less occupied and less vibrant. Staff will leave and changes will need to be

Central Bedfordshire Council
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Item 12
Page 28

made to enable the home to continue operating safely with fewer residents. It may
prove difficult to retain sufficient staff and this could affect the quality of care. Those
residents that remain in the home at the end of the agreed period would have to move.

6. Refurbish the existing building so that it meets modern standards
What would this
mean in practice?

Cost

Approximate
timescales

The Council would analyse options, prepare feasibility
studies and develop a proposal for the refurbishment of
the home.
This would include securing capital funding, planning
consents and procurement of specialist architectural
advice.
Carry out building works to refurbish the existing building
to meet current standards.
Residents will remain in the home.
Refurbishment costs would not be known until the design
specification is finalised and the build contract is let, but it is
estimated to be in the range between £500k and £2M.
Write Business Case and Executive Report to request
approval to invest in constructing a new home on Westlands
site – 3 months.
Tender for architect – 2 months.
Develop refurbishment design – 3 months.
Tender for building contractor – 8 months.
Obtain Planning Permission – 3 months (may not be
required).
Refurbishment works take place – 6-12 months.

Assumptions

Advantages

Disadvantages

Planning Permission would be forthcoming if required.
A refurbishment whilst the home remained open would be
technically and operationally feasible.
Residents could remain in the home.
The existing staff would remain in the home.
Existing and future residents would live in accommodation
that meets modern standards.
The adaptations required to bring the home up to current
standards would generate noise and mess which would be
disruptive to residents over a long period of time.
Residents would have to move within the home to enable
the building work to take place.
The work required would be extensive and would require a
significant amount of funding. The Council has not made
provisions for refurbishing Westlands so may have to stop
other projects or put them on hold to fund this

Item 12
Page 29

Central Bedfordshire Council
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

refurbishment.
The number of bedrooms is likely to reduce because of the
space required for en-suite bathrooms, larger rooms and
wider corridors to accommodate modern equipment,
activity rooms, relaxation areas and lounges. Having
fewer rooms would make the home less economically
viable.
Initial assessment
Refurbishing the home is not currently considered to be an acceptable option because
the work required would be disruptive to residents over a long period of time and is
likely to result in a home that has considerably fewer places than the current home,
adversely affecting its economic viability. In addition, investing in a refurbishment in an
area that has enough modern care home places to meet demand would not be a good
use of the Council’s resources.

Options Summary
The options are summarised against three key outcomes in the table below.
Options
Do
nothing
Outcomes

ReSell as
locate
going
to better concern
homes

Rebuild

Run
down

Refurbish

Improved quality of
accommodation
Minimal disruption for
existing residents
Value for money
Having considered these options for the future of Westlands, the Council’s preferred
option at this stage is to facilitate the creation of a new home in the area and helping to
relocate existing residents to new homes. The Council would then close Westlands.
This is the preferred option at this stage because:
Improved quality of accommodation: it enables existing residents to live in care
homes that meet increasing expectations with respect to physical and environmental
standards and improved delivery of good quality care.
Minimal disruption for existing residents: any move would mean some disruption
for existing residents, which could have a negative impact on their health and
wellbeing. Whilst the preferred option would require existing residents to move, this

Central Bedfordshire Council
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Item 12
Page 30

would only happen once as a result of the Council’s action and measures would be
put in place to mitigate any risks to their health and wellbeing.
Value for money: if the independent care home sector is prepared to invest in the
building and operation of a new home then this would allow the Council to use its
resources in other areas of need. In this scenario significant direct investment in a
care home in this area would not represent good value for money to the Council and
its council tax payers.

Appendix C

Item 12
Page 31

Central Bedfordshire Council wants the best possible quality of life for all its residents and
is committed to developing and improving accommodation with care for older people. The
Council owns and operates five care homes which were built several decades ago and
which currently no longer meet the expectations of customers and regulators in terms of
facilities and accommodation.
The Council has been investigating options and opportunities in the Leighton Buzzard
area and has secured a site in Hockliffe Road which would be suitable for a new care
home.
The Council is therefore consulting on the future of Westlands.
The Council has considered the following options in relation to the future of Westlands
including:
1. Doing nothing - continue to run Westlands in its present form.
2. Facilitate the construction of a new home in the area, relocating residents to new
homes and closing Westlands.
3. Transferring Westlands to another organisation to run as a going concern.
4. Building a new home on Westlands site - moving residents to alternative homes,
demolishing the old home and building a new home.
5. Running the home down - stopping new admissions to the home but keeping it open
for an agreed period of time or until it had no residents.
6. Refurbishing the home so that it meets modern standards.

Having reviewed a number of options (which are set out in more detail in the document
'Options Considered for the Future of Westlands') the Council's current preferred option is
to secure the development of a new care home capacity at Hockliffe Road, Leighton
Buzzard with sufficient places at that home for anyone at Westlands who wishes to go
there, and then to close Westlands.
If agreed this option will take a minimum of two years to implement during which
time it is intended that Westlands will remain open.

We want to know the views of residents, their relatives and other interested parties. The
Item 12
simplest way to let us have your views is by completing the following questionnaire.
Page 32
For more information about the consultation process please read the fact sheet ‘Have
your say on the Future of Westlands’.
You can obtain further copies of these documents by contacting Rebecca Carr on 0300
300 6609 or email rebecca.carr@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk.
Please submit your response to www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/consultations or return
your completed survey to the address below by Monday 6th November 2017:
FREEPOST RSJS GBBZ SRZT (You do not need a stamp)
Westlands Consultation
Central Bedfordshire Council
Priory House, Monks Walk
Chicksands, Shefford
SG17 5TQ
The options considered
Q1

What are your views on the Council's preferred option?

Q2

Are there any options that you think we have not correctly evaluated?
Yes
No
Don't know

If yes, please state which one(s) and why you think should be evaluated differently in the
comments box below.

Q3

Are there any options listed that you think the Council should investigate in more detail?
Yes

Item 12
Page 33

No
Don't know

If yes, please state which one(s) and say what further information or investigation is
needed.

Q4

Are there any other option(s) that you think the Council should consider that are not in the
document?
Yes
No
Don't know

If yes, please explain what these option(s) are.

Q5

Do you have any further comments about the future of the home?

Welfare of residents at Westlands
Q6

Throughout the process we will be conducting individual meetings with residents and their
relatives, and providing advocates where necessary. What could the Council do to
minimise the impact of any changes on the existing residents and their relatives at
Westlands?

Other comments
Q7

Item 12
Page 34

Do you have any further comments about the provision of accommodation for residents at
Westlands?

About you
This section of the survey is about you. The following information will help us when
considering your opinions and to make sure that we're getting the views of all members of
the community. The answers will not be used to identify any individual.
Q8

Are you a:
Resident
Relative of a resident
Member of the public
Member of staff
Charity or organisation
Other

If other, please specify

Q9

Are you male or female?
Male
Female

Q10

What is your age?
Under 16 years
16-19 years
20-29 years
30-44 years
45-59 years
60-64 years
65-74 years
75+

Q11

Do you consider yourself to be disabled?
Item
12a
Under the Equality Act 2010 a person is considered to have a disability if he/she
has
Page
35
physical or mental impairment which has a sustained and long-term advance effect on
his/her ability to carry out normal day to day activities.
Yes
No

Q12

To which of these groups do you consider you belong?
White British
Black or Black British
Asian or Asian British
Mixed
Other

If other, please specify

Q13

If you would like to receive any updates on this consultation or alerts for any new
consultations, please provide your email address below to be added to the list:

Data Protection Act 1998
Please note that your personal details supplied on this form will be held and/or computerised by Central
Bedfordshire Council for the purpose of Westlands consultation.
The information collected may be disclosed to officers and members of the Council and its’ partners
involved in this consultation. Summarised information from the forms may be published, but no individual
details will be disclosed under these circumstances.
Your personal details will be safeguarded and will not be divulged to any other individuals or
organisations for any other purposes.
Information classification: Protected when complete.

Thank you for taking the time to complete this questionnaire.

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX D

...on Westlands Older
Persons Home
An update on Westlands consultation

Item 12
Page 37

tral Bedfordshire Council
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Item 12
Page 38

Westlands
Consultation Update 2nd October 2017
What we have done so far
Following the approval by the Council’s Executive Committee on 1st August 2017 to
consult on the future of Westlands the consultation documents were sent out to residents,
relatives and other interested parties. Since then the consultation team have been busy
talking to residents, relatives and staff about the proposals and encouraging them to
complete the consultation questionnaire.
Many residents and relatives have now spoken to or met Rachel Bartholomew, the
social worker in the consultation team who will be helping residents to contribute to the
consultation.
Who we have consulted with
Along with the residents, relatives and staff, we have sent consultation information to the
organisations listed below that all have a role in relation to Westlands.
Local GP’s who have patients residing at Westlands.
East London NHS Foundation Trust (ELFT) – part of the NHS that provides services to
people with mental health needs including people with dementia.
Healthwatch – the national consumer champion in health and care. Healthwatch have
significant statutory powers to ensure the voice of the consumer is strengthened and
heard by those who commission, deliver and regulate health and care services.
Leighton Linslade Town Council – Westlands predominantly has residents from this
area.
Carers in Bedfordshire – a registered charity existing to help family carers and former
carers cope with the mental and physical stress arising from their role. They offer
assistance such as practical help, advice, training, advocacy, support and information.
Age UK Bedfordshire – a local charity based in Bedford and operating through the whole
of Bedfordshire and Luton for the benefit of all older people in the County.
Alzheimer’s Bedfordshire – a charitable organisation providing information, support and
services to people living with all types of dementia, their carers, family members, health
professionals, and anyone else with concerns about their memory or that of someone else.
Older Person’s Network Group (OPNG) – an independent forum to improve the services
Central Bedfordshire Council Provide for older people.
POhWER – a charity and membership organisation that provide information, advice,
support and advocacy to people who experience disability, vulnerability, distress and social
exclusion.

Frequently Asked Questions
Below are some of the questions that we
have been asked so far during the
consultation by residents and their
relatives.
When will the new home on Hockliffe
Road open?
We expect that a decision will be made
on the future of Westlands in April 2018,
this will coincide with a decision on the
provider of the Hockliffe Road site
following a formal procurement process.
We would then anticipate it would be
about eighteen months from this point
until the new home opens, although it
could be longer if any problems are
encountered with construction.
Throughout this period we expect
Westlands to remain open and to
operate as normal.
Will the new home offer nursing care?
At this stage we are unsure about whether
the new home on Hockliffe Road will be a
residential home or a nursing home. We will
know more once a provider for this site is
agreed.
Would I have to pay more if I were to
move to the new home on Hockliffe
Road or another residential care home
within Central Bedfordshire?
Those people who are not currently paying
the full cost of their care would not have to
pay any more than they do at Westlands.
For those who are paying the full cost of
their care (currently £489.87 per week) their
fee will be the rate that the Council pays to
homes in the independent sector. This
varies dependent on the home’s care
quality rating and the type of service it is
providing.
We know that everyone’s circumstances
and preferences are unique and we will be
happy to discuss the financial implications
and options with residents or their
representatives.

Item 12
Page 39
Would we still pay the Council or would
we have to pay the new home?
Yes, we will continue to invoice you for the
care you receive at a new home.
Will staff from Westlands be moving to
the new home?
We know how important the staff at
Westlands are and we will provide them
with help and support whatever the
decision is about the future of the home.
Staff would not transfer automatically to
the new home on Hockliffe Road but we
would be happy to work with the provider
who will be operating the home to explore
the employment opportunities for staff.
In the event of a decision to close
Westlands, Central Bedfordshire Council
would support staff to find alternative
employment where possible. This could
include redeploying members of the team
to other homes or services run by the
Council where there are suitable
vacancies.
What help will I have to move?
If the decision is made to close Westlands
an experienced and dedicated team would
work with you to move you to an alternative
home. Our priority is your health and
wellbeing and to reassure you and your
relatives during a period of change.
The Moves Team would include a
dedicated Social Worker, Occupational
Therapist and Moves Co-ordinator. The
Social Worker would give you personalised
support before, during and after the move.
They would ensure you and your relatives
and representatives are involved throughout
the process. The Moves Team would work
closely with your current home manager
and their staff to understand your needs
and preferences.

How big will the home on Hockliffe
Road be?
Our plan is for the new home to have 68
places, all of which will have en-suite
bathrooms. The Council has submitted an
outline planning application on this basis
which is under consideration.
Will the new home offer enough places
for everyone at Westlands to move
there?
Yes, as part of the sale of the Hockliffe
Road site the Council will require that the
new provider will offer it enough places to
be able to replace the capacity at
Westlands.
If the decision is made to close Westlands
there will be no obligation to move to the
new home on Hockliffe Road. You may
choose to move to a different home,
perhaps to be closer to relatives or friends.
We will work closely with you, your relatives
and representatives to ensure you find a
suitable home, which will take into account
your care and support needs.

Item 12
in Central Bedfordshire and the Council
is 40
Page
encouraging them to do this. In the
meantime the Council is investing in
many other areas of provision for older
people – for example extra care housing,
reablement and assistive technology –
and continues to fund people being
placed in care homes in the independent
sector.
Will there be a day care facility at the new
home?
We understand the value of having a day
care facility in a care home and have
included this in the proposal for the new
home.
How will you ensure that you find a
suitable provider to run the new care
home?
We will follow a transparent and robust
process to find a suitable provider and will
be emphasising the importance of the
successful organisation having a strong
track record in building and running care
homes for older people.

Why isn’t the Council building and
running their own homes anymore?
Independent providers are keen to invest
in building and operating new care homes
Independent advice and support
If you would like to speak to someone other than the Council, below are the contact details for
two local independent organisations that would be happy to discuss the consultation with you.
Telephone: 0300 456 2370
Email: pohwer@pohwer.net

Telephone: 0300 303 8554
Email: info@healthwatch-centralbedfordshire.org.uk

Item 12
Page 41

Central Bedfordshire Council
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Consultation Period and Decision Making
No decision about the future of Westlands has yet been made. Below is a timetable of the
activity planned between now and a final decision being made.
Dates

Activity

14th August to Consultation period
6th November
2017

October 2017 Procurement of provider
to March 2018 for Hockliffe Road site
February 2018 Preparing the report on
the consultation
March 2018

Meeting of the
Council’s Social Care
Health and Housing
Overview and Scrutiny
Committee to consider
the report on the
consultation and
recommendations in
respect of the future of
Westlands.

April 2018

Meeting of the
Council’s Executive
to consider the
report on the
consultation and
recommendations in
respect of the future
of Westlands.

April 2018

Call In period

Notes
You can respond to the consultation on the
future of the home at any time during this period
by filling in the questionnaire by hand, which can
be obtained from Westlands or from Rebecca
Carr on the number at the end of this document.
This can then be posted to us or handed in to
the management at Westlands. Alternatively the
questionnaire can be filled in online at
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consulta
tions
.During this time we will be asking
providers to make submissions and
selecting the preferred provider.
During this time we will be reviewing the
consultation responses and producing a
written report.
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee provides
an opportunity for elected, non-Executive
councillors and local residents to discuss and
comment on the Council’s policies, plans and
strategies before they are presented to the
Council’s Executive. The Committee
encourages public engagement in the
democratic process and is keen for people to
attend its meetings. The report will be published
on the Council’s website eleven days before
this meeting takes place.
This committee made up from elected local
councillors will consider the report and the
comments and recommendations from the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and make a
decision about the future of the home. This is a
public meeting – anyone can attend. You can
also watch the proceedings live on the Council’s
website or view them afterwards. The report will
be published on the Council’s website twelve
days before this meeting takes place.
The decision made by Executive will be
published two days after the meeting. Decisions
made by the Executive can be ‘called in’ for
reconsideration within five working days of the
date they are published. If the decision is not
called in changes can then be implemented.

Central Bedfordshire Council
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Item 12
Page 42

What happens next?
Rachel is continuing to meet with residents. She is undertaking assessments to ensure that all
residents have their say in the consultation if at all possible and is encouraging relatives to be
involved.
Alongside Rachel, the other members of the consultation team will also continue to be
available at Westlands on a regular basis to answer any questions you have.
If you haven’t completed the consultation questionnaire we would encourage you to do so.
You can do this by filling in the questionnaire by hand and posting it to us at the address
below or by leaving it with management at Westlands. Alternatively the questionnaire can be
filled in online at www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations
If you need copies of the consultation documents or the questionnaire you can get them from
the website. There are also copies in the home. If you want to be sent any of the documents
please contact Rebecca Carr on the phone number below.
The closing date for consultation responses is Monday 6th November 2017. All responses will
be reviewed and included in a consultation report which will be shared with residents, relatives
and staff before being published on the Council’s website. The consultation report will
accompany a report on the future of Westlands which will be considered by the Social Care
Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee and at a meeting of the Executive in
early 2018.
As soon as a decision is made by the Council’s Executive we will inform residents, relatives
and staff.
Meet the consultation team
The consultation team consists of (left
to right) Rachel, Mel and Rebecca.
You can expect to see them in the
home and can contact any of them via
Rebecca using the details below.

Contact us...
by telephone: 0300 300 6609
by email: rebecca.carr@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
Write to: Rebecca Carr, Central Bedfordshire Council,
Houghton Lodge, Houghton Close, Ampthill, MK45 2TG

Item 12
Page 43

Central
Bedfordshire
in contact

Find out more

www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

For more information about this
publication, further copies, or a
large print copy, get in touch.

www.facebook.com/letstalkcentral

Please recycle me!

customers@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

When finished with, please put me
in your recycling bin or bag.

0300 300 8000

CM374_14

@letstalkcentral

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 12
Page 45

Appendix E

Central Bedfordshire
Council
Westland’s Older Person’s
Home Consultation
Consultation Response Report
21st February 2018

Item 12
Page 46

1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Central Bedfordshire Council wants the best possible quality of life for all its
residents and is committed to developing and improving accommodation with
care for older people. The Council owns and operates five care homes which were
built several decades ago and which currently no longer meet the expectations of
customers and regulators in terms of facilities and accommodation.
1.2 Therefore when better options become available elsewhere, the Council will
consult with residents and relatives about the future.
1.3 The Council has undertaken a consultation on the future of Westlands Older
Person’s Home, Leighton Buzzard. Having reviewed a number of options for the
future of the home:


Doing nothing - continue to run Westlands in its present form.



Relocating existing residents to better homes and closing Westlands.



Selling Westlands to another organisation to run as a going concern.



Rebuilding on a phased basis - building a new care home on the site whilst the
current home remains open then transferring existing residents to the new
home and demolishing the old one.



Rebuilding the home on a non-phased basis - moving residents to alternative
homes, demolishing the old home and building a new one on the site.



Running the home down - stopping new admissions to the home but keeping it
open for an agreed period of time or until it had no residents.



Refurbishing the home so that it meets modern standards

1.4 The Council’s preferred option is to offer and arrange accommodation for the
existing residents in good alternative care homes and then to close Westlands.
1.5 The formal consultation began on 14th August 2017 and ran for 12 weeks, ending
on 6th November 2017
1.6 The consultation was undertaken via online and paper surveys. Additional
consultation meetings were held with residents and/or their family members/next
of kin. The outcome from these meetings has been included within this report
(Appendix 3).
1.7 Work was also undertaken by the consultation Social Worker to support residents
in collecting their views (Appendix 4).

2

Item 12
Page 47
2.

RESPONSE RECEIVED

2.1 The formal consultation was designed to capture both quantitative and qualitative
data from respondents, with results summarised within this report (percentages
are rounded to the nearest one decimal place).
2.2 The Council has received 25 responses to the formal consultation via the
consultation survey. Additional feedback from the resident and family meetings is
also considered within this report.
2.3 24% of survey respondents are residents of Westlands, 44% are family members
of residents, 0% are staff, 24% are members of the public, 0% are a charity or an
organisation, and 8% are ‘other’ people (including Leighton Linslade Town
Council).
2.4 Details of respondent demography are recorded in Appendix 1.

3.

RESULTS OF THE CONSULTATION: QUESTION AND RESPONSE OVERVIEW

3.1 Q1 What are your views on our preferred option?
All respondents replied to this question providing mixed feedback. Some did
agree with the Councils preferred option and some respondents stated that
although they did not completely agree, they understood the need to improve
facilities.
Other respondents raised concerns about the care that a private operator may
deliver, and one respondent suggested the possibility of Central Bedfordshire
Council operating the new home on Hockliffe Road.
3.2 Q2 Are there any options we have considered that you think we have not
correctly evaluated?

Yes
No
Don’t know
No answer

Number
7
6
10
2

%
28.0
24.0
40.0
8.0

3.3 Q2a If yes, please state which options and why you think they should be
evaluated differently.
Respondents felt that further evaluation of the impact on residents should be
undertaken. Some respondents reiterated their preferred option of keeping
3

Item 12
Page 48
Westlands as it is, re-use of the current site, or finding a better location that the
proposed new site development.
Some respondents felt they were unable to comment on this as there was not
enough information provided regarding the new site i.e. size, proximity to town.
3.4 Q3 Are there any options listed that you think the Council should investigate in
more detail?

Yes
No
Don’t know
No answer

Number
15
5
3
2

%
60.0
20.0
12.0
8.0

3.5 Q3a If yes, please state which options and say what further information or
investigation is needed.
Some respondent repeated their preferred option to keep Westlands as it is but
with some refurbishment or re-use of the current site. They also stated that
more investigation around the impact of any move on the residents and the
costs and quality of outsourced care should be undertaken as this was a concern.
3.6 Q4 Are there any other option(s) that you think we should consider that are
not in the document?

Yes
No
Don’t know
No answer

Number
4
9
11
1

%
16.0
36.0
44.0
4.0

3.7 Q4a If yes, please explain what these options are.
Respondents suggested integration of a day service within the home and keeping
the home as a council run service.
3.8 Q5 Do you have any further comments about the future of the home?
Respondents said that although they are happy with the home, they agree there
needs to be some modernisation / new facilities.
They also said that the wellbeing of the residents should be the primary focus.
It was suggested that more activities should be made available to residents in the
home.
4

Item 12
Page 49
Concerns have been raised regarding having a non-council care provider,
particularly around the quality of the care
One respondent said that they felt the decision is already made but wants the
home to remain under the Council.
3.9 Q6 Throughout the process we will be conducting individual meetings with
residents and their relatives and providing advocates where necessary. Are
there any other actions you think we should be taking to minimise the impact
of the proposals on the residents at Westlands?
A number of respondents referenced the length of time between the
consultation and the potential move; they felt that 2 years was a long time so
support would not be needed at the moment. One person did say that due to
the length of time, the Council needs to remain fully committed to any proposed
change. Respondents also requested that residents and their families are fully
engaged and communicated with throughout the process.
Requests were made that any changes are introduced slowly, are properly
planned and supported.
Other respondents requested that the home remain under council provision due
to concerns over the quality of care from private care providers
3.10 Q7 Do you have any further comments about the provision of
accommodation for residents at Westlands?
Respondents stated that they felt that Westlands was suitable as it is although
additional services including day provision would be beneficial. Some agreed
that it also needs modernising. They also stated that the staff a good but there
are not enough members of staff for the home.
Some respondents raised concern over costs of new services and that the
preferred option of the Council has not kept residents in mind
3.11 Detailed answers to the survey are recorded in Appendix 2.
4.

SUMMARY

4.1

The Council have received a mixed response to the consultation. Although many
respondents acknowledged the need for modernisation and the potential
benefits of moving to a new home, several respondents expressed concerns with
the Council’s preferred option because they are not confident in the quality of
care delivered by private providers, the cost implications and the location of the
potential new home.

4.2

Some respondents questioned the suitability of the Hockliffe Road site for a care
home and said that Westlands is in an ideal location for access to the town.
5

Item 12
Page 50
4.3

Feedback received from the relatives/carers meetings mirrored those received
through the survey including concerns around the quality of private care. Some
family members were also concerned about the impact that moving may have on
their relative. Reassurance and ongoing communication was requested by all
people involved in the meetings.

4.4

Feedback received from the consultation social work meetings was that people
felt that 2 years was too long a time scale. They said that conversations and
consultation period did not feel very relevant and some people felt that the
decision to close the home was already made so their view would not change the
outcome. When given the choice, people did not want to move from their
home. Their focus was being well cared for and that having their own bathroom
or being in a new building was not their priority.

4.5

Relatives said that they found the consultation questionnaire difficult to
understand. Relatives appreciated having face to face conversations; they were
perceived to be the most helpful way of presenting their views and concerns.

4.6

In conclusion, feedback received during the consultation period has shown that
there is a clear need to ensure that reassurance and ongoing communication is
provided to residents and their families throughout this process, including that
no decision has been made and will not be made until this report has been
presented to Council Executive in early 2018.

5.

THE COUNCIL’S RESPONSE

5.1

We are grateful to all of the people who took time to respond to the
consultation. We understand that this is a difficult decision and that it is
important to listen to and address the concerns of individuals – especially
residents and their relatives – before any decision is made about the future of
the home. We are glad that people found the ability to meet face to face with
staff from the Council was useful. We are sorry if anyone found the questions in
the consultation questionnaire confusing and will look to improve this in future
consultations. In the sections below we set out the Council’s response to the
main issues that were raised.

5.2

The idea of refurbishing or rebuilding Westlands on the same site: These options
were discussed in the consultation document along with the reasons why they
were not felt to be the best ones: refurbishing the home would still result in a
home that was small by modern standards and would lack some important
facilities. Rebuilding on site would be feasible but would require the home to
close resulting in disruption to residents and we could not guarantee that they
could be accommodated at homes nearby or with their friends during the
construction period.

5.3

The suitability of the Hockliffe Road site for a care home compared with
Westlands in terms of its outlook and location: The outlook to the rear of
6

Item 12
Page 51
Westlands over the Recreation Ground does provide residents with views of
trees and, whilst there will be landscaped gardens at the home in Hockliffe Rd, it
will lack this type of view. The site in Hockliffe Rd allows for a similar level of easy
access to the town centre of Leighton Buzzard as is achieved at Westlands. The
Hockliffe Rd site is in a largely residential area with mainly Victorian terraced
properties whereas Westlands is part of the town centre development of more
municipal buildings such as the Fire Station and former telephone exchange.
Our view is that the benefit of improved facilities on the Hockliffe Rd site would
significantly outweigh the dis-benefit of the less attractive view. That having
been said we would emphasise that should there be a decision to close
Westlands then residents would have a choice about where they moved to.
Whilst there would be enough places at the Hockliffe Rd home for those who
wanted to go there, we would talk to all residents about what is important to
them and if someone, for example, wanted to be in a home which had views of
trees and the countryside then we would try to arrange this. We are aware of
several homes in the Leighton Buzzard area that are in more rural locations.
5.4

The quality of care that would be offered by an independent care provider: We
understand the concerns that people have about the quality of care. We do not
accept that independently-run homes have lower quality of care than council-run
homes. The evidence is that there is good quality care being delivered by all
sectors and similarly there are examples of homes which need to improve their
care across all types of provider. The Council works with all providers to monitor
and where necessary improve the quality of care and all are subject to the same
national inspection regime.
In seeking a provider to build and run a new home in Hockliffe Rd the Council will
only seek bids from experienced providers that have a strong track record in
delivering good quality care.
Whilst we cannot promise the outcome, we would also work with the provider of
the new home to explore the opportunities for staff from Westlands to take up
jobs in the new home if they wish.

5.5

The impact of moving on current residents: We understand this concern. The
Council has a team of staff that has developed considerable experience and
expertise in arranging and managing moves when it is decided that a care home
will close. Our experience of doing this is that with careful and sensitive
management a move can be positive for residents.
You can find out more about how we have undertaken moves so far by watching
a video we prepared on the subject: https://youtu.be/_rthz--ctWw.

5.6

The reason for the long timescale and the belief that a decision had already been
made: We considered whether to delay a decision on the future of Westlands
until the Hockliffe Rd home was nearing completion but we felt that this would
7

Item 12
Page 52
be a less acceptable solution as it could be argued that the Council had
effectively made a decision about the future of Westlands already and that any
consultation was ‘just going through the motions’. The process we have followed
instead is that we expect that the decision about the future of the home and the
award of contract for the new care home to be made at the same time. We
realise that the consequences of this are that, if a decision is made that
Westlands will close when the new home opens, we will need to keep in close
contact with residents and relatives during the intervening period.
5.8

The need to focus on good quality care rather than physical facilities (such as ensuite bathrooms) which not everyone would make use of: We understand this
view but firmly believe that residents in care homes should be entitled to both
good quality care and good quality facilities – it does not have to be one or the
other. Our aim is to maintain or improve the quality of care for residents whilst
significantly improving the quality of the accommodation.

5.9

The cost of care in any replacement home: Most independent care homes in
Central Bedfordshire provide accommodation to people who are placed by the
Council and to people who arrange and pay for their own care and support. Part
of the agreement we would come to with a care home provider for Hockliffe Rd
is that the fees for anyone moving from Westlands would be at the normal
Council rates.

5.10 Support for Westlands following a decision about its future: We agree that
support will be required for residents, relatives and staff in the home. Following
any decision, we will discuss with you what information and support you would
like and explain how we plan to provide this.

8

Item 12
Page 53

Appendix 1:
Results of consultation: Demographic profile of respondents
Q8. Are you a:

Resident
Relative of a resident
Member of the public
Member of staff
Charity or organisation
Other
Did not answer

Number
6
11
6
0
0
2
0

%
24.0
44.0
24.0
0
0
8
0

Number
7
15
3

%
28.0
60.0
12.0

Number
0
0
3
1
6
1
5
8
1

%
0
0
12.0
4.0
24.0
4.0
20.0
32.0
4.0

Q9. Are you:

Male:
Female
Did not answer
Q10. What is your age?

Under 16 years
16-19 years
20-29 years
30-44 years
45-59 years
60-64 years
65-74 years
75+
Did not answer

Q11. Do you consider yourself to be disabled? Under the Equality Act 2010 a person
is considered to have a disability if he/she has a physical or mental impairment
which has a sustained and long-term advance effect on his/her ability to carry out
normal day to day activities.

Yes

Number
5

%
20.0
9

Item 12
Page 54
No
Did not answer

20
0

80.0
0

Q12. To which of these groups do you consider you belong?

White British
Black or Black British
Asian or Asian
British Mixed
Other
Did not answer

Number
24
0
0
0
0
1

%
96.0
0
0
0
0
4.0

10

Item 12
Page 55

Appendix 2:
Full qualitative response:
Q1 What are your views on our preferred option?


I agree with the Council's preferred option.



Do not agree as private run home will not be run to the same standard as Westlands is
run now under council control.



It's the best option.



5



I don't agree with any of the options and would prefer for Westlands to remain under
the council with the very good carers



Our relative in her present state would be better left where she is, because of her
dementia she gets very upset about any changes so option 1



Houkliffe [Hockliffe] Road does not seem to me to be a suitable site



Not to close weatlands [Westlands]



Hate money. Improve existing facilities.



My view is that this is another relinquishing of Council responsibility to outside care
providers who a) historically have been poor to average in CB and b) hike the fees
from £570 ish to £900 ish resulting in less than good care for elderly vulnerable people
at a higher cost. The preferred option is to build a new home and keep it under
Council control



I feel that the Westlands site is within a nice area of the town as it backs onto Parsons
rec/park, so the option of re-building a new Westlands on the same site is my
preferred option. Hockliffe road is further away from town and does not have access
to as much green space



Build a new home for Westlands residents and staff



I do not think it is the best option for the long term provision of a council run service.
At no point should it be cheaper to outsource care to a provider that should have the
same operating costs, capital costs and the need to return a profit than to operate in
house. Special attention needs to be paid to how this is the case and the effect on
clients in the event that the operator cannot operate the home profitably.



Agree that the building needs to be more up to date, but my mother is settled and to
more her would be awful.



I don’t want to go to the Old Police Station site. There are no trees to look at.
11

Item 12
Page 56


I agree with the Council



At its meeting held 25th September 2017, Leighton-Linslade Town Council resolved to
support Option Number 2 which seeks to secure the development of new care home
capacity with sufficient places at that home for anyone at Westlands who wishes to go
there, and then to close Westlands.



This form has been completed by resident (with relative input) I am settled where I
am. I don’t want to leave but the Council will do what they want to do in the end.



Its a shame that it is choosing option 2, as Westlands has a great community spirit. As
long as any home has the facilities that older people need, that is good.



Council should move residents to a completely new site altogether. There will be
police cars racing around and very noisy at the other site. Police station is a bad
location.



Would rather remain in Westlands, but happy to move to the police station if he can.



A move is a good thing. The building needs to be modernised; lifts don’t always work,
which means that residents have to have their dinners upstairs and they don’t see
anyone, radiators come on at the wrong times.



Unable to explain fully.



She is very settled at Westlands and does not want to move. She would prefer that
she does not have to move.



The wrong option

Q2a Are there any options we have considered that you think we have not correctly
evaluated? If yes, please state which options and why you think they should be
evaluated differently.


My mother is a resident at Westlands and we met there with Mel Anderton and
Rebecca Carr on 22 August as part of the consultation process. At this meeting I
suggested that the opportunity should be taken to integrate the adjacent Day
Centre into the new Home.



views for residents all they will see out of window is houses, location could of
been better



cost, upheaval to residents



Your boxes are not allowing this to be fully documented - you are restricting
space. 3, 5 and 6 are red herrings. 2 is not fully documented and neither is 4.



1) Without knowing where in Hockliffe Road the alternative site is mean that I
cannot comment on the site suitability. for example - proximity to town for
residents to access shops/ church etc. 2) No comments have been made on the
12

Item 12
Page 57
negative aspects and risks as [outsourcing]


Option 6. Refurbish as Westlands is a great location.



This process is a waste of time! Why are there amateur painters in painting
doors now?



Option 1 - Keep Westlands open in its current form.



Option 1. Continue to run Westlands as it is.

Q3a Are there any options listed that you think the Council should investigate in
more detail? If yes, please state which options and say what further information or
investigation is needed.


Build an integrated Day Centre & Care Home that will provide older members of the
community with the opportunity to transition easily as their age and condition
progresses



Keep Westlands open with the same management and staff. Forget the requirement
for ensuite bathrooms, as most residents are unable to use them.



To look at running the home under council who took it over from Bupa inadequate
rating from CQC to a good CQC report under council why change



no more agency



effect on residents and cost improving existing facilities



2 and 4 and there isn't room in your box to comment fully



The staff



As previously mentioned - investigate why the of cost of outsourcing is preferable and
what changes could you make to redress this. Investigate the risks and negative
aspects of outsourcing and display these clearly in the options to be able to make an
inform



Run the Home down as Mum can stay in a Home which she is settled in.



option 5



option 5



Option 6. Refurbish. Westlands is a prime location for residents and relatives to access
the town, families to access the home to visit, go round the park in the summer.
Nothing at the police station site - difficult to access.



It's pre-planned, so why are you asking?



Option 1 - run Westlands as it is.
13

Item 12
Page 58


Refurbishment of Westlands

Q4a Are there any other option(s) that you think we should consider that are not in
the document, if yes, please explain what these options are.


Mel told me that my suggestion was already being adopted and that Day Centres
would indeed close and be integrated in Care Homes. I think this should have been
made clear in the correspondence.



I presume the site will be sold off for housing (premium town site) -it's a pity the
council won't use the money to build the new home itself.



We were told the company's you are looking at hopefully be none profit if this is the
case why is it the council can not do the same there are lots of services that should
never be in private hands social care is definitely one of them



Would it be possible to consolidate the number of care homes and build a bigger
home with more facilities that is run by the council on existing or new site.

Q5 Do you have any further comments about the future of the home?


Whilst a new Home is desirable, my principal concern is with the management of the
existing facility. Whilst management procedures have improved following last years
damning CQC assessment, there is a distinct lack of consistency and continuity in
leadership.



All the residents require is good quality care, which is now provide by the current staff
at Westlands since the council took over the running of the home from Bupa.



No



My dad is a smoker and I worry he wouldn't be a room for him to smoke in if he was
moved



Only that the decision l believe has already been taken this is just to tick all the boxes,
but if you really believe in doing the best for the older generations then keep it under
council control



No buzzers next to residents if they need to go to toilet they have to wait for a carer
to go past the door



Yes. Your survey doesn't allow a full response. The home needs to stay under
management of the Council - 4 but your total emphasis is on financial not social or
community - lightly disguised as best interests! .



None

14

Item 12
Page 59


Need to consider all aspects



Westlands is in a very good location for a care home. Its quite and has good access to
LB centre. I think it is in the ideal location, but defiantly does need
replacing/modernising



Concerns about the consistency of staff, activities being available. Residents should
have access to the outside and going for a walk, time in the garden.



Why are the council paying for the doors to be painted, rather than the care in the
home



No



Whilst we support Option 2, the well-being of the existing residents is of primary
concern to the council.



I would like more activities. Level of care - hearing aid has been looked at but not
checked to see that battery is working, cleanliness generally needs to be improved.
Medication has been given but then left rather than checked.



I am grateful that Westlands is there looking after the residents well. I can’t do the
caring anymore, so someone else caring is helping me and I can still go to the home to
visit.



When the home was a BUPA home, it was much better. Used to be better staffed.
Now agency staff ring in on the morning going off sick, so there are not enough staff in
the building. Carers treat residents as children. There should be entertainment
available. When Council people walk around the building, they should talk to the
residents. They are going around our home and don’t have ID on. Should we pack our
valuables away?



He is happy as it is. He does not want to move and Westlands meets his needs.



Keep it open

Q6 Throughout the process we will be conducting individual meetings with residents
and their relatives, and providing advocates where necessary. Are there any other
actions you think we should be taking to minimise the impact of the proposals on the
residents at Westlands?


Simply fulfil what has been committed to. Meanwhile, please do not neglect the running
of the existing Home & seek to appoint a Manager who is committed to leading the
team throughout the next 2.5 years - a long time in the life of a Resident.



Do nothing - keep to option 1 maintain the home to an acceptable standard but more
importantly keep the current staff.



Nothing more than keep us all informed.
15

Item 12
Page 60


Introduce changing slowly



As l have said all through this paper keep it in council control if you truly do have the
resident best interest at heart



increase the number of caring staff



get rid of the people from Greenacres, it has got worse since they have been in their



leave them where they are and improve the facilities aor themnd monit [reported as
submitted – unable to work out what the respondent’s intention was]



You have clearly made up your minds to follow 2 in spite of poor quality care by private
providers and increasing fees subsidised by self funders - can't go on the Council needs to
keep people in their communities and keep homes within their portfolio



Ensure that the transition is done within a timely period, ensure that residents are
consulted as much as possible including family members



Make sure plans are in place and everybody is looked after



Just properly engage with people and listen to their concerns and act on them where you
can - Change is going to be good for some and not for others.



Not applicable at this time. 2yrs until the move.



How will the council help me to move house? I want to be supported to move house to
place |I have chosen to go to. I want the home to support me to view homes before I
leave Westlands.



Maintain continuity of staff (i.e. keep on the existing care staff of Westlands as far as
possible until the closure to help reassure residents and enable them to remain settled
and secure despite the impending move. (I am aware that the staff will not be transferred
to the new home that will be built). I hope that experienced staff at Westlands will not be
leaving/relocating in advance of the closure.



Residents moving in 2 years. not applicable.



Moving in 2 years. NA.



When moving from Westlands, I want my friend to be contacted. She will support me.



NA



NA



NA



NA



Keep Westlands open

16

Item 12
Page 61
Q7 Do you have any further comments about the provision of accommodation for residents
at Westlands?


Integrating the Day Centre activities will, hopefully, address what is currently a
neglected service in the Home



The accommodation at Westlands is plain but adequate for my father, the care from
all the staff is excellent, they are part of his family now and I do not want to change
that.



No



My dad seems comfortable so not really



It's not the most modern home but it is run with a lot of care and lovely carers and
that is the most important thing for the people in there



The location of the site is ideal, it should be developed for the same group of people
who have always benefited. Perhaps by a purpose built block where residents could
move from independent living to gradually more dependent as time passes.



No



needs updating and monitoring/



Yes an initial outlay of 7-9 million seems impossible but this will quickly be paid off by
fees - you are being very shortsighted and motivated by finance and not care and not
putting the residents and their families first.



None



No



see qu. 5



Change everything. When the council say they are going to do something, then do it!



As the document has already stated - keep Westlands open until new home is ready,
rather than move residents to what might be temporary rather than permanent
alternatives (though some residents might prefer to move earlier rather than wait for
the new home).



see Qu 5



Carers are lovely. Food is good. Residents can get up when they want to and not
rushed. Press buzzer. However, karaoke needs to be music that the residents would
like and know. Residents need to be spoken to as adults and age appropriate.



Entertainment should be provided. Children could come round and do singing at
Christmas. Links to the community. Food should be varied, it's always the same. The
library used to come round and deliver books, but they don’t anymore. They used to
do birthday cards, but that doesn’t happen anymore.
17

Item 12
Page 62


Wouldn’t change anything. It meets his needs as it is. .. but he would appreciate a bar
being installed. ..



The staff are very good and they need to be retained - short staffed. The staff need to
go with the residents as they have good relationships. There needs to be activities as
there are currently none available - the television is left on.



The staff are lovely although the Home is understaffed most of the time. I like the
Home and my room. I don’t want to move.



I like Westlands and I like the fact that my family can visit me often. The most
important thing to me is being cared for properly - I don’t need to have my own
bathroom to do that.

18

Item 12
Page 63

Appendix 3:
Consultation meetings with residents/next of kin/family:
One-to-one meetings were offered to relatives of each of the residents at Westlands
and 6 took us up on that offer. At these meetings we talked through the consultation
documents in detail and answered any questions relatives had. General feedback from
these:


Relative 1
Does not think her Dad will be bothered about a modern home as he has been
homeless before so is not bothered about moving to a new home however if it
goes ahead she will support her dad in the process and does not think it will
distress him.



Relative 2
Very concerned about the current practices at Westlands and said residents were
bored and activities were very limited, he said his Mum used to go out to a day
centre but doesn’t anymore. We advised that a lot of new homes have day centres
built into them now. He said that his Mum is in very ill health so his primary
concern was the operation of Westlands in its current state.



Resident/Relative 3
Met with resident and her friend. She said that she did not really like it at
Westlands so saw a potential closure as positive and liked the idea of being
supported to move, she said she was not keen on the idea of moving to Hockliffe
Road because of its location and liked a home in Tilsworth so she could be near her
husband’s grave.



Relative 4
Understood the proposals but said her dad is in poor health, she said she is very
involved in her dad’s care so would like to be kept informed throughout.



Relative 5
Her mum is at Westlands on long term respite. We explained the proposals and
said that if the decision is made to close the home then at some point there will be
a cut-off date where permanent residency admissions will stop. The relative asked
about fees and we said that self-funders would still pay the same contracted rate
and not the private fee if they moved to a new home. She said that Westlands and
Hockliffe Road are local to her and handy for her to get to to visit her Mum



Relative 6
Very concerned about the prospect of Westlands closing and Hockliffe Road being
run by a private operator. The family have had a bad experience of a private
provider in the past and feel that Central Bedfordshire Council offer the best care.
They are very apprehensive about the prospect of their relative moving to a home
run by a private provider. The family want assurance in writing that Westlands will

19

Item 12
Page 64
not close if there is no nearby new build home to go to, they do not want residents
to move all over the place to other old-fashioned homes.


Relative 7 (telephone)
Lives in Dorset and is unable to drive. She was a bit confused about the proposals
as she has not been able to attend any of the resident/relative meetings but said
from what she has read she fully agrees with the proposed option to close
Westlands and move all the residents to a new home nearby.

Three additional drop-in sessions were held at Westlands and all relatives were invited
to these by letter and a notice was put up in the home however no relatives attended
any of these.

20

Item 12
Page 65

Appendix 4:
Consultation meetings with social worker and residents:
Throughout September and October 2017 the project Social Worker met with
residents of Westlands Residential Home to gain their views on the consultation.
Summary of Consultation Meetings.


Resident 1
She likes her room at Westlands and would like another one the same. She believes
that as long as she is well cared for, that she will be happy. She must see her family;
If this means being in a different Home than the one being proposed where residents
share their bathroom, the family takes priority. She is happy to go along with the
Council, and wishes to remain in the consultation process. She would like to live with
other residents who have a similar ability to herself as she likes to socialise. She is
happy for the Council to know her views if this helps support her wishes being met.



Resident 2
Resident 2 lacks the capacity to understand relevant information to the decisions
being made. She is thus unable to provide views and therefore also unable or
consent to sharing her views with the Council.



Resident 3
Resident 3 understands that the Council wish to consider the future of Westlands
and have looked at 6 options. He did not place importance on having his own
bathroom. He did not place importance on the fact that the building was in disrepair
and that a new building would be nicer. He wished for Westlands to continue in its
current form, as he feels settled and has formed relationships with other residents,
whom he cares for. He understands and consented to his views being given to the
Council.



Resident 4
Resident 4 lacks the capacity to understand relevant information to the decisions
being made. She is thus unable to provide views and therefore also unable or
consent to sharing her views with the Council.
On his mother’s behalf, her son is keen for Council and Westlands staff to remain
focussed on the needs and wishes of all residents currently in Westlands. He feels
that this is important and that, as his mother is a very frail lady, that the consultation
questions may never be relevant to his mother.



Resident 5
Resident 5 understands that the Council have considered lots of options. She values
the fact that she can currently looks at trees from her window and sees nature. She
prioritises this above all other concerns such as sharing bathrooms and
modernisation. She appreciates the fact that she has her own furniture with her and
21

Item 12
Page 66
that her room is her ‘space’. She would want her possessions to follow her wherever
she goes. She has enjoyed living at Westlands and it would not be her intent to
move. She is moving because this is a Council decision. She would like to be
supported to move to another home where she can continue to a) see nature, b) be
near her friends and site of her husband’s burial. She does not believe that the
proposed ‘police station site’ will fulfil this and wishes to be supported to move to a
different location.


Resident 6
Resident 6 understood that the Council wanted his views. He did not feel that his
view would have a bearing on the outcome. M believed that resident 6 was very
settled at Westlands and that he has told her that he would not want to move. It is
M’s belief that, for resident 6, a move would be detrimental to his welfare. Resident
6 explained that Westlands is short staffed much of the time but the carers who are
present are all lovely. He likes his room and likes being able to see out of the
window. M explained that she has not been made aware of the consultation process
fully although did understand that the police station site had been bought. M will
need to be supported through the consultation process more directly, so as to allay
fears and also allow her to advocate for resident 6 more fully.



Resident 7
Resident 7 believed that at his age, that he was not in a position to provide a view
that would have any bearing on the actual future of the Home. On this basis, was not
specific about what his views were. He did however say that, in general,
modernisation was a very good thing, and that people should strive to be better.



Resident 8
He understands that the Council own the Home and are making decisions.



Resident 9
Resident 9 felt that her views wouldn’t change anything – The Council have made
their decision. She has settled into Westlands. She looks and presents as content.
She would not want to move. She, on balance, feels that she is well cared for. Some
carers are better than others. She likes to see nature and watch squirrels. She felt
unable to contribute to the consultation as she has no concrete information eg
photograph to make that decision about her future and what it should look like. She
could not see the benefit to her of having a private bathroom as she doesn’t share
one directly now.



Resident 10
He understands that the Council own the Home and are making decisions.



Resident 11
Resident 11 lacks the capacity to understand relevant information to the decisions
being made. She is thus unable to provide views and therefore also unable or
consent to sharing her views with the Council. J, cousin, visits when he can. He
22

Item 12
Page 67
believes that resident 11 is settled at Westlands.


Resident 12
Resident 12 lacks the capacity to understand relevant information to the decisions
being made. She is thus unable to provide views and therefore also unable or
consent to sharing her views with the Council. N, daughter, is unable to visit in
person due to her own circumstances, but believes that resident 12 is settled at
Westlands, despite the progression of her Dementia.



Resident 13
Resident 13 lacks the capacity to understand relevant information – that he is in a
care home for the purposes of care and treatment. Due to his cognitive difficulties
and issues with understanding, family feel that he should not be part of the
consultation process, as his well being could be affected. Family believe that he is
very settled at Westlands and that he has become more content since his admission.
They believe that the care staff are very caring.



Resident 14
Resident 14 believes that her views are tokenistic - This view was reached on the
basis that the police station site had already been secured, very shortly after being
put up ‘for sale’. She felt that all parts of the Council were working together in order
to reach this aim as a pre-agreement, thus the decision to look at home closure was
made a very long time ago. This view strengthens her view that, her part in the
consultation is tokenistic. The new proposed site is not a good site. It will be noisy
and police cars going speeding up and down that road through day and night. Money
being spent on painting doors. She feels that money should be spent on other areas,
such as staffing, entertainment, varying the meals. She would like Council staff going
around the Home to speak with residents and wear ID so as to make themselves
obvious. Residents do not know who is wandering around their home. Should they
be thinking about safety? She feels that the present home should be well staffed and
that residents should be spoken to in an age appropriate fashion. She explained that
she does not know whether she will be around to be affected by the proposed
closing of Westlands as she may have died. However, she wishes to be supported by
an independent person. She believes that she has seen other residents being moved
out and reports that the residents were not made aware of their imminent
departure. She worries that she may be treated in the same way. She wishes to be a
part of the process and kept informed of what is going on. (I assured her that she
would be)



Resident 15
Remains in hospital at time of consultation.



Resident 16
Resident 16 was a respite resident. This was made permanent. He moved into
Westlands 3 months ago (July 2017). A, believes that her father is too frail to take on
the issues of a consultation, which may not affect him, given the timescales involved.
23

Item 12
Page 68


Resident 17
Son was extremely concerned that his mother had taken a long time to settle in,
when admitted in January 2017. This consultation was seen as detrimental to her
wellbeing and wished that she was not contacted. Resident 17 has not been
contacted regarding the consultation.

Themes 

Those who were able to comment, felt that the decision to close the home was
already made prior to consultation. Their view would not change the outcome,
therefore making their views tokenistic.



When given the choice, people did not want to move from their home. Many
reported that they would prefer to close the home down as residents move on
naturally. Most reported that they did not value having their own bathroom or
being in a new building. Their focus was being well cared for. Most commented on
the fact that at Westlands, they were able to see trees and nature and placed great
value on this.



Those who were able to comment felt that 2 years was too long a time scale. The
conversation / consultation period did not feel very relevant. Frail elderly, may not
be affected by the preferred option of home closure, given the length of time
proposed. Thus a conversation now may cause unnecessary upset and be
detrimental to the wellbeing of both residents and relatives.



Most relatives voiced concerns that Westlands would be ‘forgotten’, when the
Council should not lose focus on the present and making the lives of residents as
fulfilling as possible. Eg– spending money on activities and staffing rather than
interior decorating. Most reported that they appreciated the caring interactions of
staff at Westlands and were keen to voice this view.



Most relatives found that the consultation questionnaire was difficult to
understand. Relatives appreciated having face to face conversations; they were
perceived to be the most helpful way of gleaning views and concerns.

24

Item 12
Page 69

Find us online: www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
Call: 0300 300 6609
Email: customers@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
Write to: Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House,
Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford, Bedfordshire SG17 5TQ

25

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 13
Page 1

Central Bedfordshire Council
Social Care Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Monday 19 March 2018

The Integration of Health and Social Care in Central
Bedfordshire (Phase II of the Overview and Scrutiny Enquiry)
Report of Cllr Peter Hollick (Enquiry Chairman)
Advising Officers: Paula Everitt, Scrutiny Policy Adviser
(paula.everitt@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk )

Purpose of this report
To provide Members with the outcomes of the second phase of the
scrutiny enquiry into the integration of health and social care in Central
Bedfordshire
RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Committee receive the second report of the enquiry at Appendix 1
and agree the recommendations for referral to Executive.
Background
1. In September 2016 the Social Care Health and Housing Overview and
Scrutiny Committee (SCHH OSC) agreed to undertake an enquiry to
support the Council to deliver one element of the Five Year Plan
relating to Protecting the Vulnerable; Improving Wellbeing.
2. The Executive at their meeting requested that the Enquiry Team
provide additional evidence to support their findings and
recommendations.
3. Members of the Enquiry Team researched the NHS England lead new
models of care and visited Vanguard sites providing remodelled
services which are detailed in the report.
4. The Enquiry Team is satisfied it has carried out a thorough
investigation and calls for the Executive to accept this second report
as its final piece of work in their area.
Council Priorities
5. The recommendations of the enquiry are aimed to support the
Council’s approach to protecting the vulnerable and improving
wellbeing.

Item 13
Page 2

Corporate Implications
Legal Implications
6. There are no legal implications arising directly from this report
although should proposals be prepared in light of the
recommendations contained in this report on the integration of
services a full review will be necessary to include governance and
contract issues and compliance with new data protection legislation.
Financial Implications
7. There are significant cost implications for the delivery of integrated
health and care hubs but anticipate that some of these could be
mitigated through partnership engagement on the developments.
Currently officers have secured One Public Estate Funding and
additional funding from the NHS to pay for the development of
Business cases. Individual costs of the Hubs will be derived from the
Business cases.
Equalities Implications
8. Central Bedfordshire Council has a statutory duty to promote equality
of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and
victimisation and foster good relations in respect of nine protected
characteristics; age disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and
sexual orientation. This includes identifying opportunities to encourage
people with protected characteristics to participate in public life or in
other activities where their participation is low.
9. Research indicates that vulnerable groups struggle to understand and
navigate the complexity of health and social care services. Closer
working across agencies and improved locality working provides
potential opportunities to improve access to services. There will also
be a need for services to be proactive in identifying and targeting
sections of the community experiencing poorer health outcomes who
may not be accessing preventative and early intervention services.
Conclusion and next Steps
10. The Committee is asked to consider and support the further
recommendations so that they may be referred to the Executive to
consider.
11. If the recommendations are supported, it is suggested that the
Committee requests an update from the Executive on the
implementation of the recommendations within 6 months of their
consideration.

Item 13
Page 3

Appendices
12. Appendix 1 Enquiry Report Phase II
Background Papers
13. None.

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 13
Page 5

-++0 Bedfordshire Council
Central
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Appendix 1

Outcomes of the scrutiny
enquiry on areas of good
practice to integrate health and
social care in Central
Bedfordshire (Autumn 2017)

1

Item 13
Page 6

Chairman’s Introduction
The Council has an important role in promoting wellbeing and reducing health
inequalities for its residents. This duty was set out clearly as part of the
Health and Care Act that created health and wellbeing boards.
Local Government was charged in the 2012 Health and Social Care Act, with
influencing the way in which health care is delivered to its residents. The path
is clearly along the track of an integrated health and social care system. Local
Government and Central Bedfordshire in particular, has taken on this role with
enthusiasm to try to overcome barriers between health and social care, the
different cultures between organisations and the different financial
arrangements.
Central Bedfordshire Council has taken on a leading role in this work and
earmarked capital to create two hubs within its boundaries. The success of
this depends on all parties signing up to the changes that are necessary to
create a superior environment in which health and social care are truly
partnered.
This report follows on from ‘Outcomes of the Scrutiny Enquiry on Integration
of Health and Social Care (May 2017)’.
In endorsing the above report, the Executive (1st August 2017) requested that
further work be done to investigate additional examples of good practice and
agreed to add a further recommendation to the report. ‘To note that the
delivery of integrated health and social care in Central Bedfordshire is reliant
on the cooperation and commitment from all the Council’s partners’.
That cooperation is a fundamental element of good practice and will be shown
in the following pages.
A number of visits and attendance at conferences have been made to be able
to identify good practice and to be a learning curve for integration in Central
Bedfordshire:  Bromley by Bow (reported at Appendix B of the above report) May
2017
 Nottingham Vanguard visit and Conference September and November
2017
 LGA Conference October 2017
 North-East Hampshire and Farnham October 2017
 Biggleswade Hospital visit December 2017
 LGA Conference 6 March 2018 (verbal update)
The above are in addition to the literature found in ‘New Care Models:
Vanguards – developing a blueprint for the future of NHS and care services’
(www.england.nhs.uk/vanguards/future NHS) which were circulated and
studied by the enquiry team.
1

Item 13
Page 7

These visits and the literature have shown that the different structures and
cultures of various partners in health and social care can be overcome to
achieve meaningful co-operation to provide integrated health and social care
services for the benefit of residents/patients.
The role of integrated Health and Care Hubs is reflected in the Central
Bedfordshire Pre-submission Local Plan 2015-2035, page 50, stating that
Integrated Health and Care Hubs will support the local ambition for access to
modern, high quality and locality based health and care services. These Hubs
will be aligned to key Spokes in our rural communities. More services will be
accessible to people where they live, whilst also enhancing community based
and out of hospital services. The Hubs will be the main centre for providing
proactive and preventative care, out of hospital services and care packages
for people who are vulnerable or have complex care needs.
Furthermore, a locality based integrated health and care hub approach
improves cooperation and joined up working which improves the access and
quality of care provision. The hubs are expected to serve as a base for multidisciplinary teams, provide local access to a range of general medical and
nursing, therapy, specialised and social care services with supporting
information and advice systems. Enhanced services may include an extended
GP service, minor injury and minor illness services, a community pharmacy,
rehabilitation and re-enablement facilities, outreach services from local acute
hospitals, public health and prevention services.
The body of this report brings forward evidence that integration is the way
forward, that Health and Care Hubs are a suitable delivery mechanism to
provide integrated health and social care services in the future.
I again thank the Members of the Enquiry team, Officers and others who have
continued to contribute their time and effort to this important piece of work.
Cllr Peter Hollick
Enquiry Chairman

2

Item 13
Page 8

Table of contents
Page

Sections
Chairman’s Introduction

4

Background and reason for the second phase of the Enquiry

5

Executive Summary

6

The Evidence

18

Conclusions and recommendations of the Enquiry

20

Approach to research

21

Appendix 1 and 2 - Background papers

3

Item 13
Page 9

Background and reason for the Enquiry and for the
next stage
Central Bedfordshire Council is committed to ensuring that its residents have
access to timely and best quality health and social care services. The Enquiry
Team agreed to undertake an enquiry in September 2016 to:  Understand the national strategic drivers, barriers and risks.
 To receive evidence, advice and information from sector experts to agree
an emerging approach to redesign how residents access health and care
services.
 Gather evidence, appreciate and learn from existing best practice across
the country including integrated health and care hubs.
 Understand residents’ existing experiences.
 What is feasible for Central Bedfordshire and how we deliver it.
It was felt that successful and effective integration of health and social care
could deliver seamless and person-centred services for people, leading to
improved outcomes and a better experience of health and care services.
Importantly, it could also help to reduce duplication and maximise resources,
therefore saving money. Consequently, the Enquiry Team also agreed to:  Examine the emerging approach for delivering integrated health and social
care in Central Bedfordshire with a particular focus on integrated health
and care hubs; and
 To agree an approach that sets out in an open and transparent manner
how all partners will plan for integration and delivery of locality-based
health and social care hubs across the four localities in Central
Bedfordshire.
The Executive considered the report of the Enquiry Team on the Integration of
Health and Social Care at its meeting on 6 June 2017. The principles and
recommendations were agreed along with an additional recommendation: “To note that the delivery of integrated health and social care in Central
Bedfordshire is reliant on the cooperation and commitment from all the
Council’s health partners”
“The Executive welcomed the work of the task force and the second phase of
work which was to investigate additional examples of good practice”.

Our principles, recommendations and the good
practice vanguards that support our thinking towards
integration
Strategically the implementation of the principles relies on the commitment to
a new way of working and a change in culture within the workforce. Members
4

Item 13
Page 10
reflected on the critical importance of looking at services from a person’s point
of view and are clear that this is the responsibility of all partners.
The remainder of the report is organised around these principles and provides
the rationale and evidence received for each of them. It highlights some of
the good practice examples shared with the enquiry. Further specific
recommendations are outlined as necessary below: Our principles and areas of focus for successfully achieving integrated
outcomes are: 1.
2.
3.
4.

Our residents will be at the centre of decision making.
Health and care will be assessed as close to home as possible.
Residents will be able to self-serve and manage their health and care.
Funding and resources should be available at the right time and right
place, particular in relation to locality working.
5. Health, care and housing colleagues will work together to deliver one
plan to meet the needs of our residents.
Our recommendations to Executive: Appendix 1

Executive Summary
In consideration of all the good practice and vanguard sites visited by the
Enquiry Members and the additional research undertaken, it is evident that
goals and outcomes are aligned to our principles and recommendations,
however, each area has introduced specific and bespoke arrangements to
suit the residents and health and care partners in their area.
To reiterate, the population of Central Bedfordshire is served by a number of
hospitals, none of which are inside the Central Bedfordshire boundary. These
include the Luton and Dunstable, Bedford, Lister, Milton Keynes,
Buckinghamshire Hospital Trust (formerly Stoke Mandeville), Addenbrookes
and Hitchingbrooke. This can present challenges in understanding, managing
and ensuring smooth patient flows into and out of hospitals; as well as ease of
access to the supporting community-based health and social care services.
Central Bedfordshire officers have successfully implemented enhanced
support, training and upskilled workers in our Care Homes to reduce the
transfer of residents to hospital as recommended by the Enquiry Team. This
way of working is outlined in the Sutton Vanguard which has also led to the
introduction of the Red Bag system to ensure residents that need treatment in
hospital have their notes with them at all times.
Proposals to provide two integrated health and care hubs in Biggleswade and
Dunstable to bring together GP’s and multi disciplinary teams as well as
voluntary and community workers providing social prescribing are in hand.
Capital funds have been set aside in the Capital Budget to construct them.
5

Item 13
Page 11
Members of the enquiry team visited the Biggleswade hospital site and were
met with enthusiasm by partner organisations to for the Hub. Business plans
to roll out additional hubs in West Mid Beds, Leighton Buzzard and Houghton
Regis are being produced. As can be seen from the evidence provided by
North East Hampshire and Farnham, Plymouth and Nottinghamshire the
benefits to GPs, Acute Hospitals and residents and the improved financial
position of these health economies cannot be underestimated.
The hubs may also develop a range of additional or enhanced services in line
with the needs of the local community. Enhanced services in Central
Bedfordshire will include some of the following:
 Extended GP services on a seven day basis
 Enhanced services delivered by and across practices, e.g. minor injury
and minor illness services, clinics to support patients with long-term
conditions
 Face-to-face out of hours consultations
 Community pharmacy
 Rehabilitation and reablement facilities
 Outreach services from local acute hospitals and specialist services, e.g.
outpatient appointments and other specialist consultations
 Less complex diagnostics
 Public Health and prevention services, e.g. smoking cessation, NHS
Health Checks, lifestyle hubs
 Wellbeing services and community mental health services
 Voluntary and Carer support services.
The Director of Community Services advised that a Hub Development
Steering Group, comprising directors from the CCG and Central Bedfordshire
Council, has been established to oversee the Hub Development Programme.
The Steering Group is supported by a Programme Board that comprises
colleagues across the Council; in Adult Social Care, Assets, Major Projects,
Children’s Services and strategic leads from the CCG.
It is important not to underestimate the fantastic work already done in Central
Bedfordshire that includes:  Enhanced support and training for care home workers
 Modernisation of IT systems in care homes
 Implementation of multidisciplinary approach across Central Bedfordshire
with a move now for interim co-location of teams.
 Development of joined up community health services and social care
services at operational and managerial level.

The Evidence
The NHS England new care models programme, saw the establishment of 50
vanguards who have taken the first steps towards delivering the Five Year
Forward View (published October 2014) and to support improvement and
integration of services.
6

Item 13
Page 12

There are five vanguard types:
 integrated primary and acute care systems – joining up GP, hospital,
community and mental health services
 multispecialty community providers – moving specialist care out of
hospitals into the community
 enhanced health in care homes – offering older people better, joined up
health, care and rehabilitation services
 urgent and emergency care – new approaches to improve the coordination
of services and reduce pressure on A&E departments
 acute care collaborations – linking local hospitals together to improve their
clinical and financial viability, reducing variation in care and efficiency.
Of particular interest to the Enquiry Team were multi-specialty community
provider models, details of which can be found on the Good Practice NHS
England Multispecialty community provider vanguards 1 of which there are 14
working to develop a population based health and social care model.
The multispecialty community provider emerging care model and contract
framework document 2 published in July 2016 illustrates the multispecialty
community provider (MCP) care model.

Nottinghamshire Vanguards
The Mid Nottinghamshire Better Together vanguard is one of three Vanguards
in Nottingham set up to connected services together. Their aim to ensure that
people get better support themselves through self-care, get the right advice in
the right place, first time when they need it. They also wish to ensure
responsive urgent care services outside of hospital wherever possible are
available and responsive treatment for people with serious or life threatening
emergency care needs to maximise chances of survival and a good recovery.
The health system has signed a memorandum of understanding with
regulators in order to continue its work in this area.
With a new discharge process called ‘transfer of care’, patients are
discharged from hospital as soon as they are medically fit, with wide-ranging
health and social care support already put in place to help them.
The changes were made to reduce pressure on hospitals by helping patients
leave hospital sooner and to ensure patients receive more and better care
closer to home. By implementing these changes, it was possible to achieve
the significant savings identified in their research that could be unlocked.

1

Good Practice NHS England Multispecialty community provider vanguards

2

multispecialty community provider emerging care model and contract framework document

7

Item 13
Page 13
A decline in the length of hospital stays, long-term admissions to nursing and
residential homes, secondary care elective referrals, non-elective acute
admissions, A&E attendances and mortality rates have all been achieved.
An alliance contract between commissioners and providers was created that
has allowed a more strategic approach to reduce deficits across the whole
health system.
The second Nottingham vanguard is led by Principia, a multispecialty
community provider (MCP) in Rushcliffe, Nottingham and they focused on:
 the diagnosis and management of Atrial Fibrillation (irregular, rapid heart
rate) and introduced a new frail elderly care model.
 mental health initiatives, with a commitment to achieving parity of esteem
between services for physical and mental health needs. This has included
piloting a liaison psychiatry service in primary care for those with medically
unexplained physical symptoms.
Improvements in each service area were reported by clinicians and patients
alike. The provision of liaison psychiatry service in primary care has been
introduced by the BCCG in Central Bedfordshire to improve the link with
patients and services and reduce the number reaching crisis care.
The Nottingham City CCG care home vanguard focused on improving
primary care support and data, IT and technology in care homes. Pharmacists
were recruited to improve the dispensing of medicines in care homes and
avoid hospital admissions. Care homes have also introduced telemedicine
services, resulting in a reduction in 999 calls and admissions.
The purpose of these changes was to create a one umbrella organisation to
provide integrated working between the services and to promote a culture of
‘mutual accountability’ to improve the patient experience and outcomes.
The Nottingham vanguards encompass the new models of care and the
services support the reasoning behind the Enquiry Team’s principles and
recommendations. See appendix 1.

North East Hampshire and Farnham Vanguard
The vanguard aims to keep people happy, healthy and at home by motivating
and supporting them to improve their own health and by providing a seamless
health and care service when they are ill or need support.
Visited by Members of the Enquiry team in October 2017 the Happy Health at
Home Vanguard proved to be the vision of integrated healthcare and hubs.
GPs’ practices self selected into five newly created hubs in the area and
made efficiencies delivered through new ways of working. The gap between
the available resources and the costs of providing services to meet needs was
8

Item 13
Page 14
closed. Multi-disciplinary teams relocated in all localities so that patients’
needs are better managed. GPs also provided training to upskill surgery staff
and introduced a paramedic and matron home visiting service to reduce
pressure on GPs’ time.
A few of the initiatives implemented include: A system control total agreed for the health economy. Formal ACS board
established.







The introduction of an enhanced ‘recovery at home team’ helped to keep
patients out of hospital.
Community ambassadors appointed to listen to patients and feed back to
commissioners to help them deliver the services that patients want. Patient
and community ambassadors have been instrumental in shaping services,
listening to residents and informing them of changes.
The Provision of an Army medical centre presence in the Aldershot Hub.
Shared care records achieved.
Pharmacists and paramedics advise residents who call the out of hours
service.

Evidence produced by the Vanguard shows a reduction in unplanned
admissions to hospital and a reduction in the need for re-admittance.
Residents and staff had indicated they have noticed a difference in the care
they receive and the way it is delivered. Probably one of the most challenging
and complex aspect of the changes was the establishment of partnership
working, however, with a strong alliance the new model of care has kept
patients out of hospital and reduced the need for re-admittance.
 Feedback from patients and staff indicated they had noticed a difference in
the care they received and the way it was delivered.
 System impact - Month 5 showed a 0.2% decrease in emergency
attendances, 4% ahead of target. GP referrals 9% down.
 GPs have seen a real improvement to their work life balance. It is also
worth noting in the first 18 months of implementation, there was no impact
on A&E admissions.
It was of particular note to the Team that establishing a GP presence in A&E
confused residents who were being signposted away from A&E except in
cases of a genuine emergency and this initiative was stopped.
The North East Hampshire and Farnham vanguard has delivered the enquiry
team recommendations set out in Appendix 1 and identifies the benefits that
the new model of care can bring to Central Bedfordshire.

9

Item 13
Page 15

Multispecialty Community Providers Vanguards – moving
specialist care out of hospitals into the community
In addition to the visits outlined above, the Enquiry Team investigated a
number of schemes in the country from website sources. What was evident
from this investigation was that each vanguard is unique and individual to the
area it serves, and it would not be appropriate to select one and recommend
the implementation as such. There is, however, similarities that are featured
in each one. There is opportunity to consider each vanguard on its own
merits and select concepts that could work for Central Bedfordshire. There
are a number of schemes that impressed the Enquiry Team, and some
initiatives are being introduced or being considered in Central Bedfordshire.
Those schemes considered included: 1. Hertfordshire - Enhanced care in care homes - trusted assessor model
The ‘better care for care home residents’ vanguard supports health and social
care providers to work together to provide enhanced levels of care for
vulnerable patients in care homes and avoid unnecessary trips to hospital.
The vanguard’s main focus was to improve services through workforce
development, with new integrated teams and enhanced training. The new
teams created include GPs, district and practice nurses, mental health nurses,
older people’s specialists and pharmacists who work closely with care home
staff. The vanguard also offers an extra ‘complex care premium’ which allows
care home staff to undertake a new package of training and education,
equipping them with enhanced skills to look after patients who have complex
needs with increased confidence.
For enhanced urgent care the vanguard has brought together additional ‘rapid
response’ teams of community nurses, matrons, therapists and home carers
who can arrive at care homes to provide support within 60 minutes. Where
appropriate, the teams are able to put care in place within the home as an
alternative to sending elderly patients to A&E.
There will also be an investment in technology to give all GPs access to
comprehensive information about each care home resident during visits.



Improving staff skills and confidence to support care home residents.
Reducing unnecessary and distressing visits to A&E through an improved
urgent care service within care homes.

The enhanced care in care homes model is a key recommendation and
an initiative is being introduced in care homes in Central Bedfordshire
supported by multi disciplinary teams and GPs.
10

Item 13
Page 16
Sutton Homes of Care - the vanguard
The Sutton Homes of Care vanguard has brought together partners from
across health and care working together to enhance the health and wellbeing
of care home residents with their partners. The vanguard focused on three
key components of integrated care, education and training and quality
assurance and safety. In a similar way to the Hertfordshire model, the focus
on care home residents has seen the number of unnecessary hospital
admissions drop. The joined up teams of medical, nursing, social care and
voluntary sector professionals work together to improve care for each
individual, particularly for residents with complex long-term conditions or
mental illness, including dementia.
The vanguard has delivered consistently safe and high quality nursing and
social care in care homes and enhanced competence and confidence of care
home staff.
Sutton Homes of Care also launched a Red Bag model which is a simple
initiative to help people living in Sutton care homes receive quick and effective
treatment should they need to go into hospital in an emergency.
The "Red Bag" keeps important information about a care home resident's
health in one place, easily accessible to ambulance and hospital staff.
Key benefits include communication between care home staff and trust staff
that has improved greatly because of the Red Bag and provided a better
understanding of the roles of each partner in the care of vulnerable patients.
As well as being a key recommendation from the enquiry team, this
initiative forms part of the Improved Better Care Fund actions and will
be rolled out in Central Bedfordshire Care Homes.
Tower Hamlets Together - Multi speciality community care provider
Tower Hamlets Together is a multispecialty community provider vanguard
provided by the East London Foundation Trust (ELFT) that works with
partners to deliver innovative, integrated and seamless care to patients,
carers and families. Care is user focused and better coordinated to reduce
duplication and improve the patients’ experience.
The transformation changes included a model of care for adults with complex
needs, a model of care for children and young people and the development of
a population-wide health programme that focused on prevention. Residents
of Tower Hamlets are encouraged to find and develop resources and skills
within themselves and their communities and to have the confidence to work
in partnership with services to improve their own and their family’s health and
wellbeing. Care is coordinated around residents needs and more vulnerable
11

Item 13
Page 17
patients receive care in their own homes, reducing the time they have to
spend in hospital away from their family and friends.
The outcome of this vanguard has seen services working together to offer
joined-up, patient focused care. Emphasis to help people look after
themselves better has reduced pressure on the health and care system.
ELFT have been awarded the community services contract in Bedfordshire
that begins in April 2018. It is proposed Central Bedfordshire community
services will mirror this model of working and again this underpins the
Council’s and the STP focus on prevention.
Northumberland Integrated Care Vanguard - Building a Caring Service
Integrated care in Northumberland is well established with all hospital,
community health and adult social care services delivered through a single
provider – Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust. Over 9,500 staff
work together to deliver care in people’s own homes, from various community
settings and from hospitals across the county.
Northumberland has a well ‘integrated’ health and social care system. As a
trust, they provide adult social care, as well as hospital and community
services, and this gives them a very strong foundation on which to build and
will include.









easy-to-access, joined-up system that supports self-management and
ensures the right level of care and the right professionals to meet
individual patient needs.
a single health record, that patients have access to and is shared across
organisations in a timely way amongst all health professionals
access to information and resources that will allow them to take
responsibility for maintaining and improving their own health and wellbeing
access to 24/7 advice (as part of planned or ongoing care and in urgent
situations) via electronic, telephone, or face-to-face consultation with the
right professional
better support for patients with long-term conditions using bespoke care
plans and responsive services which meet individual needs
better support for carers in local communities

Integrated Hubs have been established through Northumberland, examples
include the Blyth Community Hospital which provides care in the heart of the
town, helping many people to have their treatment locally.
The effect of the system change has shown: 


Improved outcomes for seriously ill patients requiring emergency hospital
care
Increased same day access to GP advice and reduced out-of-hours
activity
12

Item 13
Page 18




Reduced reliance on emergency care and hospital admissions
Created more time for GPs to plan and care for those with long term or
complex needs
Supports the future efficiency and financial stability of the health and social
care system as a whole.

Northumberland Healthcare Trust is unique in its set up as a single provider,
however, the foundations of their healthcare system are echoed in the
recommendations.
West Cheshire Way Vanguard
A further example outlining the transformation of care from cradle to grave, is
shown in the West Cheshire vanguard where local people are encouraged
again to take more control of their own health and wellbeing with a promise
that children and young people are equipped with the tools they need to live
happy and healthy lives.
Following feedback from GPs, a new liaison role for an Age UK wellbeing
coordinator was introduced. Coordinators were often asked by patients
about issues where there was no appropriate medical solution but where
social issues were impacting on their patient’s health.
By supporting people to manage the wider issues that affect their health in
more appropriate ways, this new service helps to reduce the pressure on GP
practices.






A self-care management programme that empowers patients to manage
their own health conditions is being funded for two years as part of the
new care models programme.
During 2015/16, 145 patients completed a six-week course run by
volunteers who have a long-term condition themselves and have received
training to become self-management coaches.
Empowering patients to better manage their health conditions will reduce
unnecessary hospital admissions and the demand for GP appointments.

As shown in the visit to Bromley-by-Bow in London by the Enquiry Team the
benefits of social prescribing can have a dramatic and positive effect on
residents that would otherwise visit their GP and look for medical intervention.
In Central Bedfordshire, Primary Care and GPs continue to link up with the
Village Care Scheme coordinators. The BRCC has enhanced the scheme
and Village Care workers are the linchpin in social prescribing in Central
Bedfordshire.
Plymouth – Pooling Pioneers in health and care integration
Plymouth City Council and the Northern, Eastern and Western Devon Clinical
Commissioning Groups’ Vanguard have an integrated budget and finance
system even though they cover different areas and have different accounting
13

Item 13
Page 19
systems. Integration focused on improved health and wellbeing; reduced
health inequalities; to improve the experience of care and better sustain the
health and wellbeing system. The whole set-up is supported by a risk-sharing
agreement and extends to all those with a role in wellbeing, including public
health, leisure, housing and children’s services.
There were elements of the finance integration that could not be overcome
that included some statutory duties which had to remain within the confines of
the Council or the CCG. Other challenges included the need to split the
budget into geographic areas.
The complexities of integration have seen the majority of the budget,
reportedly £475m successfully transitioned, the remaining £20m is tied up
legally and is not easily transferred. However, despite these challenges
integration has been highly beneficial, allowing the Council and the CCG to
spend their budgets more efficiently.
The outcome of this Vanguard’s work has seen budgets that are better
managed across the health system.
Control of budgets is a huge challenge for all health and social care providers,
however, sharing budgets and financial risk with our partners would see a
stabilising of budgets and ensure benefits to residents in Central
Bedfordshire.
The framework for joint commissioning arrangements for Central Bedfordshire
is being taken forward as part of the Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership, which has adopted a ‘place-based’ approach for Integration. This
emerging arrangement could mirror the ‘Plymouth approach’ which includes
Adults, Children and Public Health joint commissioning through a single
budget.

LGA Conference September 2017
A Member of the Enquiry Team attended a LGA Housing, Health and Ageing
Population event that show-cased innovations in designing and delivering
homes suitable for older people. Topics included: shaping the market to
deliver; integrating housing and health; engagement with older people;
commissioning adaptation and support and developing a long-term strategy.
Central Bedfordshire Council’s MANOP Team presented at this LGA event on
the theme of developing and promoting investment in housing solutions for
older people. The link between health, wellbeing and housing is welldocumented and Central Bedfordshire had commissioned extensive
quantitative and qualitative research in order to better understand older
people’s housing needs and preferences.
14

Item 13
Page 20
Members also heard about a scheme in Birmingham where houses had been
designed for older people in the first instance and would cater for a disabled
older person(s) with accommodation for carer(s) or visiting family members.
The homes were versatile and would accommodate a family too.
The Enquiry Team recognised and supported the call for development sites to
be identified which are suitable for the delivery of housing for older people
across tenure types and with different levels of care and support available. It
welcomed and supported the use of Council land for such schemes,
especially in areas where the market had not delivered. It noted the
importance of having a clear definition of the different types of housing for
older people, including mainstream homes suitable for older people to
downsize into.
The Enquiry Team is supportive of exploring the use of ‘Smarter Construction’
methods for the delivery of suitable accommodation as it may allow for faster
delivery and at a lower cost. Such methods can include modular designs, use
of novel building materials and varying degrees of offsite construction.
Members supported the idea of a right-sizing housing project to further
explore what would increase the incentive of residents to move and the effect
that moves would have on the overall housing needs as moving to smaller
properties would release larger ones for occupation by families.
The Enquiry Team considered that current national planning policy did not go
far enough and could be improved but noted the work of officers to ensure
that the housing needs of older people are reflected in the emerging Local
Plan 2015-2035. The proposed Enquiry into Housing and Homelessness
Team would be asked to investigate this idea further.
The Council continues with its programme to develop further affordable
housing-with-care Independent Living schemes like Priory View and
Greenfields – aiming for a total of six by the end of 2020, including schemes
at Houghton Regis, Biggleswade and Flitwick/Ampthill.
As the Council’s service at Priory View develops there is growing evidence
that such schemes can support people with significant care needs, helping
them to live independently and enjoy a good quality of life. In addition, working
alongside health professionals, the care team can help people avoid hospital
admissions and consequently reduce demands on the NHS. There are
opportunities to develop the services within Independent Living further in the
future by offering short term accommodation to support people on discharge
from hospital alongside additional day care services.

Sustainability and Transformation Plan
In an interview with Central Bedfordshire Council’s Chief Executive and STP
Lead for the Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes (BLMK) footprint (see
appendix 2), Members were reminded of the complexity and fragmented
15

Item 13
Page 21
nature of the NHS and the drive to deliver a model focussed on better
outcomes for residents. There is an optimism throughout the BLMK STP
footprint to achieve this, but the challenges are there for all organisations
involved. The new process centres round the residents and their journey and
it is important in moving forward to overcome and remove system barriers.
Accepting the ambition of the STP and its aims, which includes the reduction
in the number of unplanned admissions to hospital and relieve pressure on
the GP community by the continued roll out of multi-disciplinary teams in
localities and health and care hubs. Support in care homes is one example
where residents now receive additional care to help avoid the trauma of
unnecessary visits to hospital.
Central Bedfordshire has shown leadership and commitment by budgeting for
integrated health and care hubs in Biggleswade and Dunstable. The Hub
Development programme for Central Bedfordshire is also part of the STP’s
wider Hub Programme.
This commitment will lead to a continued momentum and support from
professionals to ensure the new models of care succeed. Additional funding
was also secured from the One Public Estate Programme to help develop the
scoping and strategic case for the remaining three Hubs; West Mid Beds,
Leighton Buzzard and Houghton Regis.

New ways of working in Social Care and Children’s Services
The Director of Social Care Health and Housing described the how BCF
monies had enabled services and working arrangements of Adult Social Care
and Communities Services teams to come together. Work was underway to
create an integrated management structure to mirror the changes. Primary
Care was also moving in the direction of a modern way of working and
targeting same day access arrangement and to reduce attendance at A&E.
The Council’s attempts to bring together commissioning plans have been
unsuccessful to date, mainly due to the continued financial difficulties faced by
the BCCG. The Director acknowledged there was a fragmented approach to
residents’ care in the community and her vision is to see a ‘one front door’
arrangement in the community. A tracker had been designed to log activity of
residents in and out of hospital and reasons for this. The information would
inform transformation teams and partners working on the integration of Health
and Social Care. Delayed transfer of care was also a key focus for the
transformation team.
Good practice and new ways of working from far and wide have been
researched and some aspects introduced in Central Bedfordshire.
 These include MDT working as seen in Tower Hamlets and Airedale.

16

Item 13
Page 22


An enhanced role of the voluntary sector, i.e. village care schemes, to
support communities and avoid the need for primary and secondary
care.

Head of Child Poverty, Early Intervention & Prevention, Children's Services
advised the transformation programme based around locality working had
been successfully introduced and aimed to provide one worker to one family
with one plan. The proposed hubs are very much welcomed by Children’s
Services. Currently multi-disciplinary teams are delivering services from their
base at Watling House.
At the same meeting, Cllr Richard Wenham, Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate Resources advised £30m had been earmarked in the
Capital Budget for Integrated health and care hubs in Biggleswade and
Dunstable. The Deputy Leader was clear that a detailed business plan was
required from officers to support this huge commitment. Concerns remained
over the timeframe to deliver change.

The role of the Assets Service at Central Bedfordshire
The Director of Community Services reiterated the proposals for integrated
health and care hubs in Central Bedfordshire and his aim to deliver the
Council’s vision. Each Hub proposal would require a full and concise
business plan and take advantage of funding and partnership working
available to make the projects viable and, in some cases, provide the Council
with an income to reinvest. The hubs will feature in the Local Plan. And it
was proposed a planning document be produced that set out a ‘clarity of
purpose’ or ‘joint vision’ that can be owned by CBC and by partners and gives
clear guidance of how services will be delivered and how it links to the STP,
BCF and the integrated place-based vision. The document should also
contain a list of those services that can be devolved by hospitals into the
community. It is important that hospitals continue their role to provide
treatment and the community provide care.
Of equal importance is to bring the residents of Central Bedfordshire along the
journey and educate them to look after themselves by visiting the many
community support groups providing support to help them.

Work of the Buurtzorg Nursing Team
Members of the Enquiry Team looked into the Buurtzorg model of district
nursing. The scheme was introduced in the Netherlands in 2006/07, and is a
district nursing scheme, completely nurse-led and cost effective, meeting the
needs of an ageing population. The Royal College of Nursing have also
17

Item 13
Page 23
taken a keen interest in this way of nursing and pilots are being set up
including one in the East of England region.
The district nursing team have greater control over patient care and there has
been a significant saving to the resident who can choose their own provider in
Holland. Currently the Buurtzorg’s workforce cares for over 70,000 patients of
which 50 per cent of these have some form of dementia. With holistic
assessment of the client’s needs which includes medical, long-term conditions
and personal/social care needs, care plans are drafted from this assessment.
The aim of this approach is to engage three key national health priorities:
 health promotion
 management of conditions
 disease prevention
Buurtzorg has achieved some notable breakthroughs, particularly in the
following three areas
 Higher levels of patient satisfaction
 Significant reductions in the cost of care provision
 The development of a self-directed structure for nurses.
The East of England LGA are looking to roll out a Buurtzog pilot in the Suffolk
area. It is believed that significant cost savings could be realised across the
health and care system. Although this model of district nursing is not under
consideration by Central Bedfordshire at the moment, the scheme pilot results
would be of interest.

In Conclusion
In order to share the knowledge acquired by the Enquiry, it was proposed an
Integration Conference be arranged. The date of Thursday 5 April 2018 has
been proposed to which inter alia, Central Bedfordshire Members, and GPs in
particular, be invited to explore good practice.
At the request of the Executive and the detailed evidence of the good practice
now provided, The Enquiry Team feels it has done everything required of it in
the pursuit of Integrated Health and Social Care in Central Bedfordshire.

RECOMMENDED
Phase II Recommendations: 



That in light of the further detailed evidence and best practice
outlined in the report the Council seek to urgently implement the
principles and recommendations outlined in the original report in
order to achieve the most positive outcomes for residents of Central
Bedfordshire.
That an integration conference be organised during 2018 for
Members in order to enhance awareness and highlight the
importance of integrating health and social care.
18

Item 13
Page 24



That the MANOP Team liaise with the Local Plan service and the
planning team in order to promote the Birmingham model of social
housing detailed in this report.
That a ‘clarity of purpose’ or ‘joint vision’ document that sets out the
range of services that can be delivered in a community setting be
produced that steers Central Bedfordshire residents away from
hospitals and towards on the integrated health and care hubs
provided. Place as part of the STP officer to work with health
partners to establish a clear vision for integrated services and joint
commissioning for CBC in light of the STP within the framework of
the new accountable care system.

Approach to the Research
Enquiry Team membership: Member
Cllr Peter Hollick
(Enquiry Chairman)
Cllr Susan Goodchild
(Enquiry ViceChairman)
Cllr Frank Firth
(from second meeting)
Cllr Paul Downing
Cllr Brian Saunders
Cllr Paul Duckett

Cllr Eugene Ghent
Patricia Coker

Committee
Social Care Health and
Housing OSC
Social Care Health and
Housing OSC

Ward
Dunstable Watling

Non-Executive Member

Northill

Social Care Health and
Housing OSC
Corporate Resources
and Sustainability
Communities OSC
Social Care Health and
Housing OSC and
Corporate Resources
OSC
Deputy Executive
Member
Head of Service Lead
for Integration and the
Better Care Fund Plan

Ampthill

Houghton Hall

Stotfold and Langford
Ampthill

Dunstable Manshead
Social Care Health and
Housing Directorate.

Other attendees include:  Cllr Carole Hegley, Executive Member for Social Care and Housing and
Cllr Brian Spurr, Executive Member for Health and
 Julie Ogley, Director of Social Care Health and Housing.
The review was supported by Paula Everitt (Scrutiny Policy Adviser) and
Patricia Coker (Head of Service Lead for Integration and BCF, Social Care
Health and Housing)
19

Item 13
Page 25

The Enquiry Team met on further occasions with the following partners: Date
09 October 2017
04 December 2017

Consultee
Tim Hoyle
 Richard Carr, Chief Executive and
Lead Officer STP
 Julie Ogley, Director of Social
Care Health and Housing
 Sue Tyler – Head of Child
Poverty, Early Int & Prev
Children's Serv - Safeguarding
 Cllr Richard Wenham, Deputy
Leader and Executive Member for
Corporate Resources

Specific Interest
Health and Housing
STP

14 December 2017
15 January 2018




Hub proposal
Assets/hubs

2018



12 December 2017

Visit to Biggleswade Hospital
Interview with Marcel Coiffiat
Director of Community Services
Integration Conference

20

Capital Budget
Hub proposals

Education

Item 13
Page 26
APPENDIX 1

Enquiry Recommendations
Recommendations
1. Services should be developed to support people to stay well and

take increased responsibility for their own health and wellbeing.
2. All partners and stakeholders should adopt the principle that,

where appropriate care is planned with a mix of care professionals
working together. People should feel they are in control and able
to coordinate delivery of services to achieve the best outcome for
them. (National Voices 2013).
3. As one of the front-line priorities in the STP is prevention – there

be a greater focus on early intervention and promotion of selfmanagement.
4. Primary, community, mental health and social care should be

developed to support people in community based setting and
ensure continuity of care in their localities remains a primary focus.
5. Integrated health and care hubs should be developed to provide a

focal point for the provision of out of hospital care services in each
of the localities.
6. The Council and the CCG should explore the opportunity to use

local assets to support the development of Integrated Health and
Care Hubs.
7. Integrated Health and Care Hubs should provide services across
the age spectrum and other community related services for
children and older people.
8. Discussions with partners including the BCCG on how the

Council’s community transport facilities can be used to supplement
the needs of localities should be reopened.
9. Continue to involve the public in managing their own care through

public health information on lifestyle, health and wellbeing.
21

Item 13
Page 27
10. A single point of contact for residents to ensure that care needs

can be assessed once and save patient time should be
established.
11. Ensure that where appropriate telemedicine, telehealth and

support for Carers is aligned with self-management. Consider
ways in which people can be empowered to better manage their
own care needs.
12. Explore the potential added value of universal services, both

council led and voluntary sector, to support social prescribing.
13. Address the issue of data sharing to enable integrated working.
14. The Council and the CCG should continue to bring together

voluntary groups with community and social care providers at
events like the Older People’s festival.
15. Continue to educate staff, professionals and residents in the

16.
17.
18.

19.

change of culture and new approach to health and social care
services.
Ensure that appropriate Governance arrangements and
negotiations with partners are developed
Use funding across the health and care and system to drive a
greater investment in prevention
Explore the opportunity to widen the role of the Village Care
Scheme to work closely with primary care services and the
multidisciplinary teams in the locality hubs.
A single point of contact for residents to ensure that care needs
can be assessed once and save patient time should be
established.

22

Item 13
Page 28
Appendix 2
STP Principles
P1

Prevention, encouraging healthy living and self care, supporting people to
stay well and take more control of their own health and wellbeing.

P2

Primary, community and social care services building high quality, resilient,
integrated primary, community and social care services across BLMK. This
includes strengthening GP services, delivering more care closer to home,
having a single point of access for urgent care, supporting transformed
services for people with learning disabilities and integrated physical and
mental health services.
Sustainable secondary care, making our hospital services clinically and
financially sustainable by working collaboratively across the three hospital
sites, building on the best from each and removing unnecessary duplication

P3

A further two ‘behind the scenes’ priorities focus on:STP Principles
P4

Technology transforming our ability to communicate with each other, for
example by having shared digital records easily accessible by patients and
clinicians alike, using mobile technology (e.g. apps), for better coordinated
care.
System redesign improving the way we plan, buy and manage health and
social care services across BLMK to achieve a joined-up approach that places
people’s health and wellbeing at the heart of services.

P5

Sustainability and Transformation Plan Partners
There are 16 organisations within the footprint of the BLMK STP area
including Central Bedfordshire Council as follows: 












Central Bedfordshire Council
Bedfordshire Clinical
Commissioning Group
Luton Clinical Commissioning
Group
Milton Keynes Clinical
Commissioning Group
Bedford Borough Council
Luton Borough Council
Milton Keynes Council
Bedford Hospital






23

Luton and Dunstable University Hospital
Milton Keynes Hospital
Cambridgeshire Community Services
NHS Trust
Central and North West London NHS
Foundation Trust
East of England Ambulance Service
Trust
South Central Ambulance Service NHS
Foundation Trust
South Essex Partnership University Trust
(now known as Essex Partnership
University NHS Foundation Trust EPUT.

Item 13
Page 29

A great place to live and work

Contact us…
by telephone: 0300 300 8028
by email: customer.services@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
on the web: www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
Write to Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House,
Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford, Bedfordshire SG17 5TQ
24

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 14
Page 1
Central Bedfordshire Council
SOCIAL CARE HEALTH AND HOUSING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE
19 March 2018

Work Programme and Executive Forward Plan
Advising Officer:

Paula Everitt, Scrutiny Policy Adviser
Paula.Everitt@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Purpose of this report
The report provides Members with details of the currently drafted Committee
work programme and the latest Executive Forward Plan.
RECOMMENDATIONS
The Committee is asked to:
1.

Consider and approve the work programme attached, subject to any
further amendments it may wish to make.

2.

Consider the Executive Forward Plan; and

3.

Consider whether it wishes to suggest any further items for the work
programme and/or establish any enquiries to assist it in reviewing
specific items.

Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme
1.

Throughout June and July 2016 residents were encouraged to propose
items to be considered by the Council’s overview and scrutiny
committees.

2.

In addition, a workshop took place in June 2016 at which Members and
partners were invited to propose additional items and to indicate the
priorities that they would like to consider throughout 2016/17.

3.

Throughout this process Members have been encouraged to adopt
several key principles relating to ways of working that were previously
agreed by the Overview and Scrutiny Co-ordination Panel, namely:



Minimising duplication
Focusing on requested items
Focusing on outcomes and the 5-year plan

Item 14
Page 2
4.

A long-list of items was presented to the OSC at their previous meeting
where Members agreed those items they would like to be added to
further meetings.

5.

This work programme aims to provide a balance of those items on which
the Executive would be grateful for a steer in addition to those items that
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) has proactively requested
to receive.

6.

The Committee is requested to consider the work programme and the
indicated outcomes at appendix 1 and to amend or add to it as
necessary.

Overview and Scrutiny Task Forces
7.

In addition to consideration of the work programme, Members may also
wish to consider how each item will be reviewed, i.e. by the Committee
itself (over one or a number of Committee meetings) or by establishing
a Member Task Force to review an item in greater depth and report back
its findings.

Executive Forward Plan
8.

Listed below are those items relating specifically to this Committee’s
terms of reference contained in the latest version of the Executive
Forward Plan that are not presently included in the Committee’s work
programme. The full Executive Forward Plan can be viewed on the
Council’s website at the link at the end of this report:-

Item
The Future of Westlands Older Persons Home - The
Outcome of the Consultation and Procurement
Processes
Executive Response to the Overview and Scrutiny
Enquiry on the Integration of Health and Social Care in
Central Bedfordshire II
Discharge of Duty to Provide a Suitable Home Policy
Temporary Accommodation Placement Policy
Independent Living Scheme at Houghton Regis Central
Non Key Decisions
2017/18 Quarter 3 Performance Report
Budget Framework 2019/20
Q1 Revenue/Capital/HRA Budget Monitoring
2018/19 Q1 Performance Report 2018/19
Q2 Revenue/Capital/HRA Budget Monitoring
2018/19 Q2 Performance Report
Draft Revenue Budget/Draft Capital/Draft HRA

Indicative Exec
Meeting date
3 April 2018
12 June 2018
12 June 2018
12 June 2018
7 August 2018
Indicative Exec
Meeting date
2 April 2018
7 August 2018
7 August 2018
7 August 2018
4 December 2018
4 December 2018
8 January 2019

Item 14
Page 3
Final Revenue/Capita/HRA Budget
SCHH Fees and Charges
Capital Strategy 2019/20
2018/19 Q3 Revenue/Capital/HRA Budget Monitoring
2018/19 Q3 Performance Report

5 February 2019
5 February 2019
5 February 2019
2 April 2019
2 April 2019

Corporate Implications
9.

The work programme of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will
contribute indirectly to all 5 Council priorities. Whilst there are no direct
implications arising from this report the implications of proposals will be
details in full in each report submitted to the Committee.

Conclusion and next Steps
10.

Members are requested to consider and agree the attached work
programme, subject to any further amendment/additions they may wish
to make and highlight those items within it where they may wish to
establish a Task Force to assist the Committee in its work. This will allow
officers to plan accordingly but will not preclude further items being
added during the course of the year if Members so wish and capacity
exists.

Appendix A - OSC work programme
Background Papers
Executive Forward Plan (can be viewed at any time on the Council’s website)
at the following link:http://centralbeds.moderngov.co.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=577&RD=0

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 – Social Care Health and Housing OSC Work Programme

Meeting date
Monday, 14 May 2018
Monday, 4 June 2018
Monday, 4 June 2018
Monday, 4 June 2018

Report Title
Quality Accounts
Temporary Accommodation Placement policy
Reviewed Discharge of Duty to Suitable home
policy
Planning to meet the needs of an ageing
population

Item 14
Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

